## For fat and thin

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders



To the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport



Subject: Presentation of advisory report For fat and thinYour reference: VGP/VV 2864984Our reference: I-371/08/RW/cn/850-BEnclosure(s): 1Date: August 24, 2010

Dear Minister,

On 28 July 2008, you asked the Health Council to investigate whether the prevention of overweight and obesity is a risk factor for developing eating disorders. I am pleased to hereby present the advisory report entitled For fat and thin.

In order to advise you, a Committee of Experts examined recent research into the relationship between prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders. The Standing Committees on Medicine and Nutrition reviewed the findings.

The committee would like to note that the effect of prevention of overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders can be both beneficial and adverse. The scientific literature assumes that prevention aimed at healthy diet and sufficient physical activity has no or a protective effect on developing eating disorders, while prevention programmes focusing on weight and promoting weight loss may have an adverse effect.

The committee concludes that available research is methodologically lacking. The limited conclusions available do not provide reasons to change current preventive policy, which is primarily focused on healthy diet and sufficient physical activity. However, they also do not provide convincing confirmation for it. Therefore, the committee recommends examining in studies into prevention programmes for overweight and obesity whether there are any – beneficial or adverse – effects on eating disorders.

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 70 18 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: rianne.weggemans@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl

Gezondheidsraad Health Council of the Netherlands President



Subject: Presentation of advisory report For fat and thinOur reference: I-371/08/RW/cn/850-BPage: 2Date: August 24, 2010

This advisory report provides you with the most recent scientific findings. I fully support the Committee's conclusions and recommendations.

Yours sincerely,

(signed) Prof. D. Kromhout Acting President

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 70 18 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: rianne.weggemans@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl

## For fat and thin

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

to:

the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport

No. 2010/13E, The Hague, August 24, 2010

The Health Council of the Netherlands, established in 1902, is an independent scientific advisory body. Its remit is "to advise the government and Parliament on the current level of knowledge with respect to public health issues and health (services) research..." (Section 22, Health Act).

The Health Council receives most requests for advice from the Ministers of Health, Welfare & Sport, Housing, Spatial Planning & the Environment, Social Affairs & Employment, Agriculture, Nature & Food Quality, and Education, Culture & Science. The Council can publish advisory reports on its own initiative. It usually does this in order to ask attention for developments or trends that are thought to be relevant to government policy.

Most Health Council reports are prepared by multidisciplinary committees of Dutch or, sometimes, foreign experts, appointed in a personal capacity. The reports are available to the public.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the European Science Advisory Network for Health (EuSANH), a network of science advisory bodies in Europe.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment (INAHTA), an international collaboration of organisations engaged with *health technology assessment*.

This report can be downloaded from www.healthcouncil.nl.

Preferred citation:

Health Council of the Netherlands. For fat and thin. Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2010; publication no. 2010/13E.

all rights reserved

ISBN: 978-90-5549-850-5

## Contents

	Executive summary 11				
1	Introduction 15				
1.1	Background 15				
1.2	Question 16				
1.3	Methods 17				
1.4	Structure of the report 17				
2	Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof 19				
2.1	Definitions of overweight and obesity 19				
2.2	Consequences of overweight and obesity 19				
2.3	Epidemiology of overweight and obesity 20				
2.4	Risk factors for overweight and obesity 22				
2.5	Prevention of overweight and obesity 23				
2.6	Effectiveness of prevention of overweight and obesity 29				
2.7	Conclusion 30				
3	Eating disorders 31				
3.1	Definitions of eating disorders 31				
3.2	Consequences of eating disorders 35				
3.3	Epidemiology of eating disorders 36				
34	Trends in occurrence of eating disorders and overweight and obesity 41				

Contents

- 3.5 Risk factors for eating disorders 42
- 3.6 Prevention of eating disorders 45
- 3.7 Conclusion 49
- 4 Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders 51
- 4.1 Conditions for an effect of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders *51*
- 4.2 Research into the effect of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders 52
- 4.3 Conclusion 60
- 5 Prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in perspective *61*
- 5.1 Proposal for combined prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders *61*
- 5.2 Effects of prevention programmes in perspective *63*
- 5.3 Conclusion 65
- 6 Conclusions and recommendations 67
- 6.1 Conclusions 67
- 6.2 Recommendations for further study 72
- 7 Answers to the Minister's original questions 73

Literature 77

- Annexes 91
- A Request for advice 93
- B The committee 95
- C Definitions of eating disorders 97
- D Search strategy 101

10 For dun and thin

### **Executive summary**

#### Background to this advice

The Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport has started a large number of initiatives to prevent overweight and obesity. In the context of these so-called prevention projects, the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport has asked the Health Council of the Netherlands to advise on the question whether the increased attention paid to overweight and obesity is a risk factor for the development of eating disorders.

This includes the eating disorders anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and eating disorders not otherwise specified (NOS), including binge eating disorder. The first two disorders are characterised by obsessive control of body weight via eating patterns. A person with anorexia nervosa refuses to maintain their body weight at or above the normal weight for his/her age and height. A person with bulimia nervosa will binge (eat large amounts of food in a short period of time), followed by attempts to compensate for the effects of the binges on his/her weight (for example by self-induced vomiting and/or use of laxatives). People with an eating disorder NOS exhibit some of the characteristics or a variety of the characteristics associated with anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa or binge eating disorder, or suffer from binge eating disorder. Binge eating disorder resembles bulimia nervosa, except that the binges are not compensated for.

11

Executive summary

In this advice, a specially appointed Committee will indicate

- 1 What is known about the effect of the prevention of overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders. This effect can be both favourable and unfavourable.
- 2 Whether a modification of the prevention policy is required and if so what this modification would entail.

## Focus of prevention of overweight and obesity: healthy eating and sufficient physical activity

The prevention programmes for overweight (a body mass index between 25 and  $30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and obesity (a body mass index over  $30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) are divided into the groups or individuals at which they are targeted.

- Universal prevention is targeted at the general population.
- Selective prevention is targeted (unsolicited) at population groups at (increased) risk of overweight or obesity, for example immigrants and people with a low level of education.
- Indicated prevention is targeted at overweight individuals.
- Care-related prevention is targeted at obese individuals.

Healthy eating and sufficient physical activity are the focal point of universal and selective prevention. Weight and weight loss used to be the focal point of indicated and care-related prevention, but the focus has shifted more and more to healthy eating and sufficient physical activity.

## Hypothesis: effect of prevention of overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders depends on the focus of the prevention

Characteristics of a developing eating disorder are: negative body image; irrational concern about weight; fear of becoming fat; risky dieting behaviour in the form of eating very little, skipping meals, self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives and diuretics.

The literature assumes that prevention programmes that focus on weight and stimulate weight loss can intensify risky dieting behaviour, body dissatisfaction and stigmatisation and weight-related teasing. It is expected that programmes that do not focus on weight, but rather focus on healthy eating and sufficient physical activity, will be more effective in the prevention of overweight and obesity and will not influence or have a protective effect on the development of eating disorders.

#### Limited scientific knowledge no reason for policy change

The methodology used in the study on whether the prevention of overweight and obesity influences characteristics of a (developing) eating disorder is not very thorough. The limited conclusions do not form an indication for changing the current prevention policy, but also do not provide convincing confirmation.

Universal prevention programmes focused on healthy eating and lifestyle do not appear to have any detrimental effects on characteristics of a developing eating disorder and possibly even offer a protective effect. There is no information available on studies on the effect of selective prevention programmes. Within the indicated and care-related prevention, there are no indications that losing weight under the guidance of a professional affects the risk of eating disorders in children. Overweight and obese adults who suffer from binge eating can reduce the number of binges in the short term by caloric restriction and weight loss under professional guidance.

Both for the prevention of overweight and obesity and for the prevention of eating disorders, the emphasis is placed on healthy eating and sufficient physical activity, or reasonable amounts of physical activity in the case of eating disorders. Therefore, the literature has called for an expansion of the universal and selective prevention of overweight and obesity with the prevention of eating disorders. The additional themes for this should be: avoiding risky dieting behaviour; developing self-confidence; improving the way of coping with negative emotions and stress.

## Study the effects of current prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders

The Committee is of the opinion that there is not enough information available to make any certain statements about any favourable or unfavourable effect of the prevention of overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders. Therefore, the Committee recommends that research into prevention programmes for overweight and obesity should include research on the (un)favourable effects on characteristics of a (developing) eating disorder, in particular in children and adolescents. The study should preferably be included in an existing study and should focus, among other things, on risky dieting behaviour and excessive physical activity. So: study not only whether the programmes help in the prevention of overweight and obesity, but also whether they affect the development of eating disorders.

Executive summary

#### Other research recommendations

Other matters which the Committee advises to place on the research agenda, because there is insufficient information:

- Expand existing research with questions about common risk factors for overweight, obesity and eating disorders in children and adolescents.
- Study the effects of (commercial) weight loss programmes on the risk of eating disorders. Prevention programmes for overweight and obesity are not performed in isolation, but against a background of other social-cultural factors, such as commercial weight loss programmes.

## Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

The Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport has started initiatives aimed at the prevention of overweight and obesity, such as the 'Healthy Weight Covenant', the 'Hello World' intervention (an awareness-raising programme aimed at helping parents of young children to embrace a healthy lifestyle and healthy child-raising), the 'Manual for prevention of overweight in local health policy', the Netherlands Overweight Partnership and various national campaigns, such as the Nutrition Centre's 'balance day'. The 2009 Overweight Memorandum describes the large variety of activities in this field.<sup>1</sup>

There may be a drawback of this increased attention for preventing overweight and obesity according to the Ministry, namely that it may lead to the development of eating disorders. This includes the eating disorders *anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa* and eating disorders not otherwise specified (NOS), including binge eating disorders (appendix C contains the definition of eating disorders according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV (DSM-IV).<sup>2</sup> The first two disorders are characterised by compulsive control of body weight via eating patterns. Anorexia nervosa is an eating disorder characterised by a refusal to maintain a body weight at or above the normal weight for age and height. Bulimia nervosa is characterised by episodes of binge eating, during which large amounts of food are consumed in a short period, followed by attempts to compensate for the effects of binge eating on weight (including self-

Introduction

induced vomiting and/or laxative use). Binge eating disorder is similar to bulimia nervosa, but without the compensating behaviour. People with eating disorders NOS show some symptoms of one or more eating disorders, such as anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa or binge eating disorder, or suffer from a binge eating disorder.<sup>3,4</sup>

Within the context of the initiatives focused on prevention of overweight, the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport asked the Health Council of the Netherlands to advise on the question of whether increased attention for overweight and obesity is a risk factor for developing eating disorders (Annex A).

#### 1.2 Question

The request for advice asks for 'an exploratory study' to answer the question of whether increased attention for overweight is a risk factor for developing an eating disorder. Areas that require investigation include gender differences in sensitivity to developing eating disorders; whether there is an increase in the number of eating disorders in teens younger than 15 years; to what degree 'popular eating disorders' such as orthorexia nervosa and anorexia athletica are related to current preventive policies on overweight and healthy diets; and whether the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport can modify its current prevention policy on overweight so as not to promote the development of eating disorders.

The committee (Annex B) has three comments regarding the request for advice. Firstly, it appears the requesting party is assuming that a (mono) causal link exists between preventing overweight and the risk of eating disorders. How eating disorders develop is not entirely clear. Eating disorders appear to be caused by a combination of multiple factors that may strengthen each other.<sup>5</sup> These factors are classified in groups: hereditary factors; biological factors; cultural and environmental factors; general psychological factors; and specific psychological factors. Independently, single factors do not appear sufficient to cause the disorder.<sup>3</sup>

Secondly, prevention of overweight and obesity could theoretically not only promote eating disorders, but possible actually prevent them through improved recognition of signs of incipient eating disorders, such as negative body image or irrational worries about weight.

Thirdly, it must be noted that the committee has only investigated the effects of education on healthy diets as part of the prevention of overweight and obesity.

In consultation with the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, the committee has operationalised the minister's questions as follows:

- Are there signs that prevention of overweight and obesity influences the risk of eating disorders? This influence may be both beneficial and adverse.
- What changes could, if necessary, be made to preventive policy in order to prevent eating disorders?

The following sub-questions will also be addressed:

- a What is the definition of overweight and obesity, what is the incidence and prevalence, what changes have been noted over the past years, and what prevention activities may be identified?
- b What is the definition of eating disorders, what is the incidence and prevalence, what changes have been noted over the past years, and what prevention activities may be identified?

#### 1.3 Methods

For this advisory report, background information on relationships between prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders and factors associated with the development of eating disorders were assessed systematically and categorised by level of evidence (Annex D). In addition to medical literature, this advisory report has also used 'grey' literature: guidelines, reports, advisory reports and other documents published by other advisory councils and research institutes.

The committee submitted its report to the Health Council's Standing Committees on Nutrition and Medicine for review.

#### 1.4 Structure of the report

Chapter 2 discusses the definition, health effects, risk factors and occurrence of overweight and obesity. It also contains an overview of prevention activities. The definitions, health effects, risk factors, occurrence and prevention of eating disorders is discussed in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 examines the effects of obesity prevention on the risk of eating disorders. In Chapter 5, the committee outlines a combined preventive approach of overweight, obesity and eating disorders. It also places the possible effects of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders in perspective. The committee presents its conclusions and recommendations in Chapter 6. Finally, Chapter 7 answers the minister's original questions.

Introduction

Chapter

2

# Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof

This chapter gives definitions for overweight and obesity, describes the effects of these conditions on health, outlines risk factors, and determines how common these conditions are, in which people, and what incidence trends may be identified. The chapter concludes with a description of various forms of prevention of overweight and obesity.

#### 2.1 Definitions of overweight and obesity

The following definitions are used for overweight and obesity in adults:

Overweight = a BMI between 25 and  $30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ .

Obesity = severe overweight. This is defined as a BMI of  $30 \text{ kg/m}^2$  or higher.<sup>6</sup>

In the Netherlands, the cut-off values for overweight and obesity derived from adult values by Cole et al are used for children over the age of 2 years.<sup>7,8</sup>

#### 2.2 Consequences of overweight and obesity

Obesity in particular can have severe physical, social and mental effects.

Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof

In children, obesity has serious health effects. Children with obesity have more risk factors for cardiovascular disease, abnormal glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes mellitus. <sup>6,8</sup> Overweight in children often continues into adult life.<sup>9,10</sup>

Children with obesity are also often stigmatised. Because of this, they risk lower self-esteem during puberty, with all psychosocial problems that entails.<sup>11,12</sup>

In adults, overweight increases the risk of developing type II diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular disease, but has no effect on life expectancy.<sup>6,13,14</sup> This means people with overweight have more unhealthy years of life than people with a normal weight.

Obesity increases the risk of type II diabetes, hyperlipidaemia, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, various forms of cancer, biliary disease and locomotor conditions.<sup>6,13,14</sup> Additionally, obesity leads to a significant reduction in life expectancy of six to seven years, and an increase of premature death comparable to the effects of smoking.<sup>6,14,15</sup> Life expectancy also includes more unhealthy years.<sup>6,14</sup> As age increases, the influence of obesity on the risk of death decreases. From the age of 65 onwards, there is practically no correlation with life expectancy.<sup>14,16</sup>

Cause and effect are difficult to separate when it comes to mental and social problems. In western culture, obese individuals are often stigmatised and discriminated, making it more difficult to function within society. Stigmatisation may lead to a negative self-image and all associated psychosocial problems, such as loneliness, sadness, anxiety and depression.<sup>6</sup> On the other hand, people with a mental disorder such as depression appear to be at a higher risk of obesity.<sup>17</sup> Severely obese people may experience a lower quality of life due to mental and social problems, work disability and an increased incidence of other conditions arising from obesity.<sup>6</sup>

#### 2.3 Epidemiology of overweight and obesity

#### 2.3.1 Prevalence of overweight and obesity

At the time of writing, only the data from the 2010 Fifth National Growth Study was available, categorised by cultural background (Table 1).<sup>18</sup>

In the period 2002-2004, about 13 percent of children and youths had overweight; about 3 percent was obese. Relatively more girls than boys were overweight, while the number of girls and boys with obesity is comparable. The prevalence of overweight and obesity among children was highest among those aged 7 to 8 years.<sup>19,20</sup> All of the above data, regardless of discussion about cutoff values for overweight and obesity, provide a good overview, as they have been measured.

In 2007, an estimated 36% of adults had overweight, and 11% was obese. Overweight is more common among men than women, while the opposite is true for obesity. It must be noted that height and weight were reported by the adults themselves.<sup>19,21</sup> The odds of overestimating height and underestimating weight is greater among people with obesity. This means the number of adults with obesity may be underestimated.<sup>22,23</sup>

Overweight and obesity are more common among population groups with lower levels of education and those with a Turkish, Moroccan, Surinamese or Antillean background.<sup>6,21,24-26</sup> In comparison with native Dutch people, overweight among non-western immigrants is more common among the elderly. There are no major differences between the two groups among people under the age of 39.<sup>26</sup> The percentage of people with overweight or obesity in the Netherlands is lower than in most other countries within the European Union.<sup>27</sup>

#### 2.3.2 The number of adults with obesity is still growing

Between the 1980s and the beginning of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, the number of children and adults with overweight and obesity in the Netherlands has grown significantly.<sup>18,21,28</sup>

Over the past few years, the number of overweight adults seems to have stabilised. However, the number of adults with obesity is still growing.<sup>29</sup> This is also based on the previously described self-reporting data, and is consistent with data from other studies performed among Dutch population groups in which height and weight were measured, such as the Doetinchem study.

#### Table 1 Percentage of people with overweight and obesity in the Netherlands.

	Percentage of women	Percentage of men	
Overweight	15% girls with Dutch background	13% boys with Dutch background	
C C	32% girls with Turkish background	33% boys with Turkish background	
	29% girls with Moroccan background <sup>a18</sup>	25% boys with Moroccan background <sup>a18</sup>	
	30% adult women <sup>21</sup>	41% adult men <sup>21</sup>	
Obesity	2% girls with Dutch background	2% boys with Dutch background	
·	8% girls with Turkish background	8% boys with Turkish background	
	8% girls with Moroccan background <sup>a18</sup>	6% boys with Moroccan background <sup>a18</sup>	
	12% adult women <sup>21</sup>	10% adult men <sup>21</sup>	

<sup>a</sup> The difference in percentages between children with various cultural backgrounds may largely be explained by differences in socioeconomic status.<sup>21</sup>

#### Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof

#### 2.4 Risk factors for overweight and obesity

Overweight and obesity occur when energy intake exceeds energy expenditure for years. A one-time small change in intake or expenditure, such as eating a cookie or walking 1.5 km less, has limited effects on body weight.<sup>30</sup> Overweight and obesity as part of a disease fall outside the scope of this advisory report.

No dominant factor influencing this energy balance – or rather, imbalance– has been identified. Genetic factors, early growth and development, and certain personality traits such as impulsiveness may have an effect on the development of overweight and obesity. Various exercise and eating habits have been associated with a risk of overweight and obesity, such as a high-fat diet, energy-dense food, diets low in dietary fibre, eating large portions, consumptions of sugared (soft) drinks, a lack of daily physical activity and too much sedentary activities such as watching television. The identification of potential risk factors in the field of nutrition and physical activity is largely based on observational studies, and the evidence is not consistent.<sup>6,31</sup>

The influence of environmental factors appears to be critical to the increase in the number of people with overweight and obesity. There are strong signs that sociocultural (what do others think and do), physical (what is available), economic (what does it cost) and political (what are the 'laws and rules') environmental factors can promote excessive energy intake and limit energy expenditure. This unfavourable environment is also referred to as an obesogenic environment.<sup>6,32,33</sup> In addition to differentiation according to sociocultural, physical, economic and political environment, the ANGELO framework (analysis grid for environments linked to obesity) also differentiates between obesityrelated factors in the micro-environment (home, neighbourhood, school, work, in other words the environment where people make choices and are directly stimulated regarding eating and physical activity habits) and those in the macro environment (legislation and regulations, transportation systems, mass media, healthcare on a regional, national or international scale). Factors in the microenvironment include factors that influence eating habits and spending of free time within a family, child-raising styles and rules about eating and physical activity parents set for their children, availability of products at home, at school or in local shops, safety on the street in the neighbourhood, and social and cultural norms regarding food and physical activity in the neighbourhood, school or working environment. The macro-environment encompasses large systems and sectors that influence the micro-environment and thus can also influence the individual. Factors in the macro-environment are more distant from individual

behaviour, and contribute to the prevalence of overweight and obesity in the population. Examples of factors in the macro-environment are laws and regulations, taxes on and pricing of foodstuffs, transportation systems and mass media.<sup>6,8,32</sup> In addition to these categories of environmental factors, research has shown that various social-cognitive factors (for example attitudes, beliefs, experienced behavioural controls and motivation regarding eating and physical activity) influence what and how much people eat and are physically active.<sup>34</sup>

One of the factors most consistently associated with an elevated risk of overweight and obesity as well as unhealthy eating and physical activity habits is a low socioeconomic position. In the Netherlands, a non-Dutch background is also associated with an elevated risk.<sup>6,21,24-26</sup>

#### 2.5 Prevention of overweight and obesity

#### 2.5.1 Definitions of prevention

This advisory report has followed the interpretation of prevention given in the report Prevention ensured, published by the Health Care Insurance Board.<sup>35</sup> This definition differentiates between universal, selective, indicated and care-related prevention.

- Universal prevention is focused on the general population.
- Selective prevention is aimed (unrequested) at (high) risk groups within the population.
- Indicated prevention addresses individuals that do not have a diagnosed condition, but do have a combination of risk factors or symptoms.
- Care-related prevention focuses on individuals with a disease or one or more health problems, and focuses on preventing complications, worsening of the disease and handicaps.<sup>35</sup>

When discussing prevention programmes, programmes for adults and children should be examined separately. The effects of commercial prevention programmes fall outside the scope of this advisory report.

#### 2.5.2 The role of the Dutch government in prevention activities

Programmes for the prevention of overweight and obesity have been in place in the Netherlands since 2003. The Overweight Memorandum of 2009<sup>1</sup> states that municipalities have the directing role in the prevention of overweight and obesity. The national government supports them in this task, among other things

Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof



through the handling of problem neighbourhoods and making means available for sports, physical activity and adequate healthcare. Additionally, the Centre for Healthy Living and the Netherlands Organisation for Health Research and Development (ZonMw) aid municipalities in the development and roll-out of effective prevention programmes as well as with practical issues.

In accordance with the broad prevention strategy of the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, *Being healthy, staying healthy: a vision on health and prevention*, policy on overweight and obesity is elaborated along four programme lines. The Overweight Memorandum describes the large variety of activities within the programme lines, varying from national campaigns like the Nutrition Centre's 'balance day' to activities on a municipal level, such as the 'Youths at a Healthy Weight' (JOGG) programme.<sup>1,36</sup> In practice, preventive activities are fractured. The effects of prevention activities on weight, physical activity and energy intake are often not evaluated.<sup>37</sup>

The Nutrition Centre made an overview of all products, programmes and activities available in 2008 for the prevention of overweight and obesity.<sup>38</sup> In this so-called lifeline, distinctions are made between target groups and settings. Recommendations or approaches vary depending on age, emphasising:

- Targeted nutritional and physical activity recommendations for pregnant women.
- Breastfeeding for at least 6 months for women with newborns.
- Healthy eating and physical activity for toddlers.
- Teaching a healthy eating pattern and stimulating sports and physical activity, or promoting an active lifestyle for children and youths.
- A healthy energy balance = healthy eating + enough physical activity + a Balance Day for adults.

Another available overview is the interventions database created by the Healthy Living Centre, describing about 200 active programmes in the field of lifestyle, focused on prevention of overweight. This database explicitly indicates whether the intervention has a solid theoretical foundation and/or is effective.<sup>39</sup>

Finally, the National Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention (NIGZ) created the Overweight toolkit specially for schools, which – like the lifeline – provides a current overview of programmes, projects and materials for addressing overweight and obesity.<sup>40</sup>

The above overviews reveal that there are more selective than universal programmes.\*

#### 2.5.3 Available prevention programmes and guidelines

The prevention programmes vary in terms of target group and nature of the preventive message (Table 2).

#### Universal prevention

Universal prevention programmes target the general population, and emphasise healthy diet and sufficient physical activity, in accordance with the *Guidelines for a healthy diet 2006* published by the Health Council.<sup>42</sup> Originally, universal prevention programmes were also focused on weight and weight loss. Because this does not appear to be effective, the focus has shifted.<sup>43-45</sup>

The majority of universal prevention programmes targets children in primary or secondary education. Implementation sometimes relies on teachers, youth workers or parents, and in other cases on home care employees, physiotherapists or municipal health services employees (GGD).

#### Table 2 Target groups for prevention programmes for overweight and obesity.

\*

Prevention	Overweight and obesity in children	Goal	Overweight and obesity in adults	Goal
Universal	General population	Healthy diet and sufficient physical activity	General population	Healthy diet and sufficient physical activity
Selective	General population, normal weight with elevated risk	Healthy diet and sufficient physical activity	General population, normal weight with elevated risk	Healthy diet and sufficient physical activity
Indicated	Parents of children with overweight	Weight loss or preventing further weight gain	Individuals with overweight	Weight loss or preventing weight gain
Care-related	Children with overweight and their parents	t Weight loss or preventing further weight gain	Individuals with obesity	Weight loss or preventing weight gain

The Consortium on the Integral Approach to Overweight will publish an overview of national and international prevention programmes for overweight and obesity along with an assessment of effectiveness in the course of 2010.<sup>41</sup>

#### Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof

One example of a universal prevention programme for adults is the Nutrition Centre's Balance Day campaign, which is part of the multi-year 'Maak je niet dik' (watch your weight) campaign. The Balance day focuses on preventing weight gain by compensating days of excess eating with days of less eating and/or more physical activity. During a Balance Day, you eat a healthy diet according to the wheel of five, a food guide pyramid. You don't eat any extra food like candy, cookies, snacks or beer. If you have had a calorie-rich meal, you can use the extra energy by being more physically active. The Balance Day should not be an excuse to eat 'badly' and calorie-rich and not move enough on other days. The foundation for a healthy weight remains a healthy eating pattern and sufficient physical activity.

The Nutrition Centre's Balance Day is promoted via a mass media campaign (radio and television), a specially developed brochure, the Nutrition Centre's website and the digital Balance Day Newsletter.<sup>46</sup>

#### Selective prevention

Selective prevention programmes target high-risk groups within the general population, and emphasise the importance of healthy diet and sufficient physical activity. As with universal prevention programmes, selective prevention programmes were also focused on weight and weight loss. Because this does not appear to be effective, the focus has shifted.<sup>43-45</sup>

There are a large number of selective prevention programmes. They focus on groups with an increased risk of obesity: non-western immigrants and people with a low socioeconomic status. As is the case with universal prevention programmes, these programmes can be implemented by a variety of intermediaries.

The *Netherlands guidelines for weight management* apply to selective prevention programmes.<sup>47</sup> These are general guidelines for best practice and specific guidelines for adolescents, young adults and retired people. The guidelines provide a framework for the development of new prevention programmes, using the *Environmental research framework for weight gain prevention*. This framework is based on the ANGELO model, which was developed for charting the obesogenic environment.<sup>32</sup>

An example of a selective prevention programme is JUMP-in, developed for primary school pupils in neighbourhoods with low socioeconomic status. This programme aims to prevent overweight by promoting physical activity and enjoyment of physical activity among 4 to 12 year-old children. It pays special attention to inactive children who do not participate in sports and children with overweight and/or slow motor development. The programme consists of six parts:

1 A pupil tracking system, which monitors BMI, waist and hip measurements, sports participation and motor development.

- 2 School sports clubs with low threshold, daily sporting activities at or very close to school.
- 3 'The classroom in motion', offering all children varied options for physical activity and relaxation.
- 4 'This is how to MOVE!', a personal workbook for exercises to do at school and at home for children and parents in various age groups.
- 5 Awareness-raising activities for parents, with a general informational meeting, courses, classes and workshops to teach parents how to stimulate and support their children to adopt a healthy and active lifestyle.
- 6 Additional care for children with slow motor development or factors limiting physical activities such as overweight. They receive additional gym classes or motor remedial teaching. Their parents receive additional information and can, if required, be referred for specialised care.

The programme is implemented in schools and designed for permanent use. In order to embed JUMP-in into the daily routine, structural cooperation is created between city districts, primary schools, youth health care, welfare organisations, teaching support services and local sports associations.<sup>48</sup>

#### Indicated prevention

Indicated prevention emphasises the treatment of overweight in children and adults, and focuses on the individual. The importance of healthy diet and sufficient physical activity has been pushed to the foreground in this type of prevention as well.

There are a small number of indicated prevention programmes. These indicated programmes are implemented through professional support by, for example, dieticians, physiotherapists or home care employees. A course is available to parents of overweight children aged 0 to 4 years. Parents of overweight children aged 5 to 12 years may receive counselling via the youth health service (JGZ) transitional plan. There are a variety of courses and holiday camps with professional support for secondary school-aged youths with overweight.

Campaigns such as the 'Healthy weight assistant' are available to adults with overweight, emphasising healthy eating and sufficient physical activity.\* Supporting materials are also available in the form of an eating table or a calorie-restricted diet.

The 'Healthy weight assistant' focuses on adults with normal weight and adults with overweight This project is therefore classified as both universal and indicated prevention.

Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof

An example of an indicated prevention project is the transitional plan. This consists of a systematic approach to help youth health service employees with the (early) identification of children aged 2 to 18 years with overweight, and providing advice and support for parents in order to prevent further relative weight gain, thereby preventing obesity among these children. The transitional plan also provides handholds for the universal and selective prevention of overweight among children aged 0 to 18 years. The plan focuses on five elements:

- 1 Promoting breastfeeding.
- 2 More outdoor play and physical activity.
- 3 Regular and good breakfasts.
- 4 Decreasing consumption of sweetened soft drinks.
- 5 Less time spent in front of the TV or computer.

Children from the age of 2 with overweight or obesity are tracked down using a signalling protocol. If weight for height and age exceeds the population mean plus one times the standard deviation, BMI is determined. Internationally defined cut-off values are used to determine whether overweight or obesity is present, if necessary supplemented by a clinical view. All children with obesity and children with overweight caused by a physical disorder are referred to the GP. If overweight without a physical cause is determined, youth health services provide support. This support targets the parents of children with overweight, not the children themselves, and consists of setting up an achievable change plan with concrete, practical tips. Support consists of a maximum of four consultations. During each consultation, height, weight and waist circumference are measured.<sup>49,50</sup>

The transitional plan is a practice-based guideline implemented by youth health service employees.

#### Care-related prevention

Care-related prevention emphasises the treatment of obesity in children and adults, and focuses on the individual. As is the case for indicated prevention, this type of prevention is increasingly focused on the importance of healthy diet and sufficient physical activity.

Care-related prevention is outlined in the multidisciplinary guideline *Diagnosis and treatment of obesity in adults and children*, and is a practice-based guideline.<sup>8,51</sup> The guideline states that treatment of obesity consists of combined lifestyle interventions for at least one year, followed by long-term support aimed at weight maintenance or further weight loss. This requires close cooperation between doctors, dieticians, physiotherapists and psychologists. The goal is weight reduction in adults of at least 5 percent after one year, and a decrease in waist circumference of at least 10 percent. If weight loss is below 5 percent, medication can be added to the lifestyle interventions. Bariatric surgery may be considered for a BMI above 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, or between 35 and 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> if co-morbid condi-

tions are present. Pharmacological and surgical interventions are discouraged for children and adolescents.

#### 2.6 Effectiveness of prevention of overweight and obesity

#### 2.6.1 Theoretical foundations

Prevention is more likely to be successful if focused on behavioural change rather than solely on increasing knowledge. Good prevention systematically links research, theory and practice. Effecting behavioural change requires three essential components. Effective communication strategies addressing beliefs and attitudes can increase awareness and motivation. Another component focuses on setting goals and improving skills. Finally, a supporting environment needs to be created within which the desired behaviours can be performed. Each component should be based on both theory and research data.<sup>52,53</sup>

#### 2.6.2 Effectiveness of prevention programmes

Systematic reviews of programmes for universal and selective prevention of overweight and obesity among children and adults conclude that some of these programmes are effective, but that it remains unclear which aspect of a prevention programme is responsible<sup>\*</sup>.<sup>54-70</sup>

An important caveat for interpreting the results of the above systematic review articles is that few studies with solid methods have been performed. While a large number of programmes aimed at preventing overweight and obesity strive to increase awareness and motivation, few have studied the cognitive effects of the intervention. Additionally, few prevention programmes for overweight or obesity indicate whether they have a theoretical foundation or create a supportive environment.<sup>66</sup> An additional methodological problem is that the studies are difficult to compare, as methods vary greatly. Additionally, changes to BMI as outcome measures are contentious, as this is not a good measure for effectiveness for prevention programmes that promote physical activity. These projects may lead to a decrease in fat mass and an increase in muscle mass without affecting the BMI.<sup>47</sup> Physical activity can also change the distribution of fat

The report by the Consortium on the Integral Approach to Overweight, which will be published in the course of 2010, underwrites this conclusion for adults and describes (elements of) effective prevention programmes for children in schools.<sup>41</sup>

Overweight and obesity and prevention thereof

throughout the body and improve insulin resistance among children with obesity without affecting body weight.<sup>71-74</sup>

#### 2.7 Conclusion

Overweight increases the risk of type II diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular disease in adults, while children with overweight run a greater risk of overweight as adults. Obesity can have severe social, mental and physical consequences for adults and children. In recent years, the percentage of adults with overweight appears to have stabilised at around 36 percent. Eleven percent of all adults is obese, and the number is still growing. 14% of children with a Dutch cultural background were overweight in 2010, and 2% were obese.

Overweight and obesity develop if energy intake exceeds energy expenditure for a long period of time. No dominant factor influencing this energy balance – or rather, imbalance – has been identified. The influence of environmental factors appears to be of key importance. There are strong indications that various sociocultural, physical, economic and political environmental factors – the socalled obesogenic environment – stimulate people to consume more energy than they use.<sup>6,33</sup>

Since 2003, a broad variety of projects for prevention of overweight have been implemented in the Netherlands. These are primarily universal prevention projects and schools, and selective prevention projects for high-risk groups, such as pupils at schools in neighbourhoods with a low socioeconomic status. Additionally, there are a small number of indicated prevention projects for children with overweight.

For universal and selective prevention projects, the emphasis lies on healthy diet and physical activity, in accordance with the 2006 Guidelines for a healthy diet by the Health Council. Indicated and care-related prevention focuses on preventing weight gain or promoting weight loss. Indicated prevention specifically focuses on the treatment of children and adults with overweight. Care-related prevention is centred on the multidisciplinary treatment of obesity, as described in the CBO guideline *Diagnosis and treatment of obesity in adults and children*. The latter two forms of prevention are also increasingly focusing on the importance of healthy diet and physical activity.

In practice, the offerings in the field of overweight prevention are fractured. The effects of prevention activities on weight, physical activity and energy intake are often not evaluated.

## <u>Chapter</u> 3 Eating disorders

In this advisory report the term eating disorders is used to mean anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and eating disorders NOS, including binge eating disorder. This chapter discusses the definitions of eating disorders, determines how often these conditions occur, in whom, which trends are visible, and briefly describes the health effects of these disorders. As the request for advice explicitly asks about a possible increase in the number of eating disorders among teenagers under the age of 15, the discussion of incidence and prevalence will focus on this group. The chapter concludes with a discussion of risk factors for and prevention of eating disorders.

#### 3.1 Definitions of eating disorders

The definitions used in this advisory report were taken from the 2006 multidisciplinary guideline Eating Disorders.<sup>3</sup> This guideline describes eating disorders generally as disorders regarding actions, thoughts and feelings about eating and weight. Eating disorders are characterised by the preoccupation with eating and weight and abnormal weight. The *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV* (DSM-IV)<sup>2</sup> identifies three eating disorders: anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and 'eating disorder not otherwise specified'. The latter category also covers binge eating disorder, for which the DSM-IV provides a research definition. Annex C lists the detailed definitions.

Eating disorders

Anorexia nervosa = eating disorder characterised by a refusal to maintain a body weight at or above the normal weight for age and height. Patients with anorexia nervosa are usually extremely emaciated. Additionally, body weight or body shape has a disproportionately large influence on self image. Two types of anorexia nervosa are identified: the type that purges<sup>\*</sup> and/or binge eats, and the limiting type that does not purge or binge eat.<sup>3</sup>

Bulimia nervosa = eating disorder characterised by episodes of binge eating during which very large amounts of food are consumed within a short period, followed by attempts to counter the effects of binge eating on weight. Additionally, body weight or body shape has a disproportionately large influence on self image. Two types are also identified for bulimia nervosa: the purging type and the non-purging type that generally does not display purging behaviour, but displays other inadequate compensatory behaviour for the episodes of binge eating, such as fasting or extreme physical activity.<sup>3</sup>

Binge eating disorder = binge eating disorder or bulimia nervosa without compensatory behaviour. Binge eating disorder is a new category in the DSM-IV. This category has only been introduced as a 'tentative diagnosis', meaning criteria for further research have been proposed with the objective of deciding whether the category will be recognised as an 'official' eating disorder at a later date. While the scientific debate continues, binge eating disorder has been accepted as a condition in clinical practice. Formally, it is classified as an eating disorder not otherwise specified.<sup>3</sup> This advisory report will refer to it as 'binge eating disorder'.

Eating disorder not otherwise specified (NOS) = eating disorder in which patients usually have a number of, but not all characteristics of previously listed eating disorders.<sup>3</sup>

Eating disorders present differently in young children. For example, they tend to eat non-edible items (pica) or regularly regurgitate food from the stomach to chew on it again without nausea (rumination disorder).<sup>2</sup> These eating disorders fall outside the scope of this advisory report.

#### 3.1.1 Limitations of current definitions of eating disorders and the DSM-5

The usefulness of the above DSM-IV definition of anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa, eating disorders NOS and binge eating disorder for adults, adolescents and children is under discussion.<sup>75-79</sup> For example, the majority of eating disorder patients is currently diagnosed as eating disorders NOS.<sup>80,81</sup> However, this is the group that has been studied least.<sup>82-84</sup> Additionally, the question of whether binge eating disorder is a valid and usable diagnosis remains. There are also dis-

\* Self-induced vomiting or abuse of laxatives, diuretics or enemas.

cussions about whether certain specific criteria are required for diagnosis, such as not menstruating as a criteria for anorexia nervosa, and two episodes of binge eating with compensatory behaviours per week for three months as a criteria for bulimia nervosa.<sup>83,84</sup>

Criticisms of current definitions for eating disorders are being evaluated indepth during the process of drafting the DSM-5. At the time of writing, only proposals were available for new DSM-5 criteria. The final version is expected to be published in late 2010.83-85 One of the proposals is to classify binge eating disorder as a specific disorder in the DSM-5. The proposal is to change the criteria for binge eating disorder from two to one episode of binge eating per week for three months. The criteria for the number of episodes of binge eating followed by compensatory behaviour per week will also be reduced from two to one for bulimia nervosa. Further proposals include no longer differentiating between purging and non-purging types of bulimia nervosa. For anorexia nervosa, one proposal is to remove lack of menstruation as a criterion. Persisting behaviour aimed at preventing weight gain has been proposed as an alternative to the criterion of intense fear of gaining weight or getting fat. Additionally, each eating disorder will be given a continuous scale for severity of the condition. Finally, the DSM-5 is considering describing specific problems requiring clinical attention for eating disorders NOS, such as repeat purging without overeating and nocturnal eating syndrome. One of the comments on the proposed DSM-5 definitions for eating disorders, is that definitions appear to be more applicable to women than men.85

#### 3.1.2 Delimitation

The request for advice lists anorexia athletica and orthorexia as examples of eating disorders (Annex A). There is also a debate in the scientific community about whether obesity is an eating disorder.<sup>86</sup> Additionally, various forms of eating and dieting behaviour have been described. This advisory report will not treat anorexia athletica, orthorexia, obesity and various forms of eating and dieting behaviour as eating disorders for a number of reasons.

Anorexia athletica is not an official eating disorder<sup>\*</sup>. Excess physical activity can, particularly among boys, be a strategy to lose weight while still exhibiting boyish behaviour. It is both a characteristic of eating disorders and a factor asso-

The advisory report describes anorexia athletica as follows: Extreme amounts of sports or physical activity are considered a characteristic of eating disorders, and are also a specific risk factor for developing an eating disorder. In people with normal weight, extreme exercise may lead to weight loss while they consume relatively normal amounts of food. Some individuals continue engaging in sports for longer and more fanatically in order to increase performance. Particularly for men, this may be a strategy to lose weight without having to diet.

Eating disorders

ciated with the development of eating disorders.<sup>3</sup> In writing the DSM-5, there has been debate about whether excess physical activity should be included in the definition of eating disorders.<sup>85</sup> This is different from a specific form of body dysmorphic disorder, bigorexia nervosa or muscle dysmorphia, in which a patient is so obsessively concerned with a muscular appearance and body building that his or her social life, education or work is affected negatively.<sup>2</sup>

Orthorexia is extreme, compulsive healthy eating, and is considered a risk factor for the development of an eating disorder, but is not an official eating disorder.<sup>3</sup> In orthorexia, growing numbers of food items are taken off the menu, particularly those that contain a relatively large number of calories, fat or sugars. Children and adults who grow increasingly obsessed by healthy foods run the risk of going too far and developing an eating disorder, particularly when combined with psychological risk factors. The reasons orthorexia is not considered an eating disorder within the scope of this advisory report is that orthorexia is not necessarily related to weight or weight prevention, but may also be part of certain beliefs about healthy diet and health, or be related to awareness-raising about healthy diet in general or the prevention of cancer.

This advisory report will not classify obesity as an eating disorder, as there are insufficient signs that obesity can be classified as a psychopathological disorder. Whether or not obesity is a mental disorder remains a hotly debated topic in the field.<sup>87,88</sup> Thinking about obesity as a psychopathological condition may well change in the future. Despite this, it is clear that mental health care (GGZ) should be involved in the treatment of obesity.<sup>88</sup>

- Obesity-related eating behaviour can be categorised as follows:
- Emotional eating: Eating due to negative emotions, which may be vague, such as boredom, or specific, such as fear.
- External eating: Eating in response to strong food stimuli such as smell or visibility of food.
- Restrained eating: Limiting food intake in order to maintain or lose weight.<sup>89</sup>

These forms of eating behaviour are not considered psychopathological in the DSM-IV, and this will not change in the DSM-5. Various forms of eating behaviour may, however, be associated with eating disorders. Emotional eating behaviour may be associated with binge eating.<sup>90,91</sup> Children and adolescents with overweight more commonly exhibit external and/or emotional eating behaviour, and score higher on restrained eating behaviour than children with a normal weight.<sup>92</sup>

Restrained eating behaviour is diverse, and there is no consensus on how to categorise its various forms. Not all dieting behaviour causes eating disorders or

corresponds with an eating disorder in terms of eating behaviour. Limited caloric restriction<sup>\*</sup> reduces the tendency to overeat.<sup>93</sup> Cohort studies have shown that successful dieting behaviour that prevents girls from gaining or losing weight can reduce bulimic symptoms.<sup>94,95</sup>

Eating very little, skipping meals, self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives and/or diuretics is risky.<sup>3,96</sup> Intensive and risky dieting behaviour, from the use of cigarettes or diet pills to reduce appetite to self-induced vomiting or the use of laxatives and diuretics, is more common among teens and adolescents with overweight or obesity than among adolescents with normal weight.<sup>97</sup> Additionally, intensive and risky dieting behaviour is associated with an increased risk of developing binge eating and weight gain.<sup>98</sup>

The question remains: what is cause, and what is effect? As Hill et al state: It may be that 'being fat makes you more likely to diet'.<sup>99</sup> It may be that people who are predisposed to overweight and overeating diet more often in a more intensive or risky manner. This does not always lead to weight loss, and may even lead to weight gain.

Within this context, Goldsmith and colleagues call for early identification of young people with overweight and intensive or risky dieting behaviour or binge eating, in order to prevent them from becoming obese.<sup>97</sup>

#### 3.2 Consequences of eating disorders

Eating disorders may, over time, have many often severe social, mental and physical effects.

Eating disorders seriously affect the social lives of patients. They often lead a limited, even handicapped life, because they are no longer physically capable of working, studying or going to school, isolating them socially.

Associated psychological complaints include depression, anxiety, concentration and memory disorders and obsessive thinking.

In anorexia nervosa, physical symptoms are caused by underweight, malnutrition, fasting and overactivity. Some of these symptoms may be life-threatening: cardiac arrhythmias, congestive heart failure, hypoglycaemia. In young children, anorexia nervosa may lead to slowed growth and sexual maturation. Among eating disorder patients who purge, physical complaints may (also) be caused by vomiting and laxative and/or diuretic abuse, which can lead to cardiac arrhythmias and renal dysfunction. Physical effects of an irregular diet and/or

A reduced calorie diet with a caloric value which is 600 kcal per day lower than normal for the person in question.<sup>8</sup>

Eating disorders

binge eating are menstrual disorders, nausea and abdominal pain, diarrhoea and obesity.<sup>3</sup>

Anorexia nervosa is one of the mental disorders with the highest mortality.<sup>3,100</sup> Based on data from international research, an estimated 15 to 30 patients with anorexia nervosa die each year in the Netherlands. This cannot be confirmed using national cause of death statistics, possibly because cause of death in eating disorders is classified under other codes, such as complications of weight loss or suicide.<sup>101,102</sup>

Mortality among patients with bulimia nervosa or eating disorders NOS may be comparable to mortality for anorexia nervosa<sup>103</sup>, but insufficient data is available to draw any conclusions.<sup>100</sup>

#### 3.3 Epidemiology of eating disorders

#### 3.3.1 Research into eating disorders

The figures on the prevalence of eating disorders underestimate the actual number of people with an eating disorder (table 3). Studies into eating disorders are hampered by low prevalence among the general population, and the tendency of people with eating disorders to hide symptoms and avoid professional help. An additional difficulty in patients with bulimia nervosa or binge eating disorder is that, unlike anorexia nervosa patients, they do not always display physical traits of the disease.<sup>3,4</sup>

The best method for determining the prevalence of eating disorders is a twophase study. This method uses a questionnaire to screen a large group of people for potential eating disorders. This yields an at risk group. Subsequently, both the at risk group and a randomly selected group without elevated risk are interviewed. This allows actual cases to be identified. This approach is also limited due to low participation, low specificity and sensitivity of both questionnaire and interview, the often limited extent of the groups interviewed, particularly the group without elevated risk.<sup>4</sup>

Most international studies looking at the incidence of eating disorders are based on registries of psychiatric conditions or hospital medical charts. This underestimates the actual numbers among the general population, as not all cases are admitted to hospitals or come into contact with care institutions.<sup>4</sup>

There are no good data available on the incidence of eating disorders among non-western immigrants in the Netherlands.<sup>3</sup> This does not mean eating disorders do not occur in this group in the Netherlands: various studies have shown that girls and women from non-western backgrounds may also develop eating
disorders after migration to western countries<sup>3,5,104-106</sup>, although the effect appears to be dependent on the country of origin.<sup>107</sup> Initially, anorexia nervos was rarely to never diagnosed among black women from, for example, Curacao and America.<sup>108,109</sup> The growing influence of western lifestyles among these women will likely lead to an increase in the number of eating disorders.<sup>110,111</sup>

Finally, the introduction of updated and new definitions of eating disorders in the DSM-5 will also lead to an increase in the incidence of some eating disorders.

### 3.3.2 Occurrence of anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa

The eating disorders anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa occur primarily among 15 to 24 year-old women (table 3).<sup>3,4</sup> In clinical practice, a small percentage of patients with anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa are men,<sup>4</sup> compared to about 5 percent of patients in general practice.<sup>112</sup> According to two-phase studies conducted among European and American adults, lifetime prevalence of anorexia nervosa is 0.9 percent among women, and varies between 0 and 0.3 percent among men. In these studies, lifetime prevalence of bulimia nervosa varied between 0.9 and 1.5 percent among women and 0.1 and 1.5 percent among men.<sup>113,114</sup> A Finnish two-phase study among girls and young women found significantly higher lifetime prevalence figures for anorexia nervosa (2.2 percent) and bulimia nervosa (2.3 percent).<sup>116,117</sup> Lifetime prevalence for anorexia nervosa among young men was comparable to data from European and American research<sup>\*</sup>.<sup>118</sup> One possible explanation for the higher percentage among Finnish girls and young women is that the number of anorexia nervosa patients in younger birth cohorts has risen.<sup>116</sup> Another explanation was that older European and American participants do not remember their symptoms as clearly.<sup>113,114</sup>

#### Occurrence among children under the age of 15 years

Little research has been done into the incidence and prevalence of anorexia nervosa and bulimia in groups younger than 15 years of age.

Anorexia nervosa occurs sporadically in children, and can have severe negative – sometimes irreversible – effects on physical development.<sup>119,120</sup> Bulimia nervosa is extremely rare among young children who are not yet sexually mature. <sup>121</sup>

\*

The lifetime prevalence of bulimia nervosa among Finnish men was not reported.

Eating disorders

1	0		
	Incidence per year among women in general practice	Prevalence among women	Prevalence among men
Anorexia nervosa	0.015 % <sup>112</sup>	0.4 % of women aged 15-29 years <sup>4</sup>	Not reported <sup>b</sup>
Bulimia nervosa	0.012 %112	1.5 % of women aged 15-29 years <sup>4</sup>	Not reported
Binge eating disorder		1 to 2 % <sup>c80</sup>	1 to 2 % <sup>80</sup>
Eating disorders NOS d		2 % of women aged 12-23 years $^{81}$	Not reported

a The introduction of updated and new definitions of eating disorders in the DSM-5 will also lead to an increase in the incidence of some eating disorders.

b A small percentage of anorexia nervosa patients in treatment centres and about 5 percent of anorexia nervosa patients in general practice is male.<sup>4,112</sup>

c This is a single phase study. Two-phase studies have found two to six times higher lifetime prevalence figures for binge eating disorders for women compared to men.<sup>113,114</sup>

d About 60% of all eating disorders.<sup>75,76,115</sup>

In the Netherlands, one study conducted in a general practice population over a ten year period at the end of the 20th century identified a single child under the age of 10 with anorexia nervosa, and one more with bulimia nervosa. The study examined 1 percent of the Dutch population.<sup>112</sup>

A more recent prospective study found the incidence of early onset eating disorders among Australian children aged 5 through 13 years to be 0.001 percent. The median age for developing an eating disorder was 12 years. In this study, eating disorders are defined as avoidance of food combined with weight loss or a lack of weight gain during growth without a clear biological cause. According to the DSM-IV criteria for eating disorders, 38 percent of the children with an eating disorder had anorexia nervosa. These figures are based on a registration of eating disorders using the *Australian Paediatric Surveillance Unit*, and not on a two-phase study, which may lead to underestimation of the actual problem. The incidence also varies between regions in Australia, which may indicate underreporting in some regions. The region with the highest incidence reported a figure of 0.003 percent. Finally, one quarter of patients was male.<sup>120</sup> Data from other countries also shows a higher percentage of boys with anorexia nervosa among young children compared with adolescents.<sup>122,123</sup>

#### Possible shift in incidence to younger age groups

In the Netherlands, the number of patients with anorexia nervosa has remained stable since 1980. This trend is also visible in other western countries.<sup>4,114,124</sup> There are also signs that the number of patients with bulimia nervosa is in slight decline since the 1980s,<sup>112</sup> which also appears to be the case in some other European countries.<sup>4,124</sup> In the USA, the risk of bulimia among young women appears

to have remained stable between 1990 and 2004.<sup>125</sup> These figures are based on registries and not two-phase studies. Therefore, the data and any trends should be assessed with the necessary care.

The incidence of anorexia nervosa in general practice appears to have shifted towards younger girls and women from the age of 15 years between the 1980s and 1990s. The incidence of anorexia nervosa among girls between the ages of 15 and 19 years almost doubled between the 1980s and 1990s (from 0.06 to 0.11 percent per year), while the incidence among women between the ages of 20 and 34 years dropped. For bulimia nervosa, the high-risk group shifted from 26 to 29 year-olds to 15 to 24 year-olds in the same period.<sup>112</sup>

Based on these data, it cannot be concluded that anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa are occurring at younger ages. This is because early diagnosis of anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa improved during this period, family doctors may have become better at recognising symptoms, and awareness of eating disorders has increased in the general public under the influence of the media.<sup>112</sup> However, it cannot be ruled out that there has been an age shift. For example, specialist treatment centres treat anorexia nervosa patients under the age of 12 years with increasing frequency.<sup>126</sup> At the time of writing, no precise data were available.

The data described above were largely collected in the 1990s. More recent data from the Continuous Morbidity Registration Polling Stations show no significant changes in eating disorder incidence between 1995 and 2007. As published data contain double counts and combination of new and existing cases, no firm conclusions may be drawn based on this information.<sup>127</sup> The incidence and prevalence data for anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa from the second national study of diseases and interventions in general practice from 1987 and 2000 through 2002 are difficult to compare, as both eating disorders are combined in the reports<sup>\*</sup>.<sup>128</sup>

The committee is not aware of any studies in other western nations in which a shift of the incidence of anorexia nervosa from older to younger age groups has been reported. There does appear to be an increase in the number of young children with anorexia nervosa registered for treatment at specialist centres in the USA since the early 1960s.<sup>129</sup> This may also be explained by increased awareness of the condition and improved accessibility of care.<sup>121</sup>

In 2008, a new *Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study* (NEMESIS) was performed, but data on any changes in prevalence in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa were not available at the time of writing.

Eating disorders

#### 3.3.3 Little is known about the occurrence of eating disorders NOS

Eating disorders NOS is, by definition, a remainder category. It encompasses a heterogenic group of all patients that do not meet all criteria for anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa, or vacillate between the two conditions. Binge eating disorder is also classified as an eating disorders NOS.<sup>3</sup> Although it is a remainder category, international studies have shown that eating disorders NOS are the largest category among both children and adults (Table 3).<sup>75,76,115</sup> About 60 percent of outpatients with an eating disorder have an eating disorders NOS.<sup>115</sup> Eating disorder NOS is also the largest category within the eating disorders among the general population.<sup>130</sup>

Little is known about the incidence of eating disorders NOS in the Dutch population. Further description is therefore based on limited data from international studies.

A Portuguese two-phase study found that eating disorders NOS occurred in 2 percent of 12 to 23 year-old women.<sup>81</sup> Other epidemiological studies among adolescents showed incidences of eating disorders NOS varying between 0.8 to 14 percent. This variation is due not only to differences between examined groups of adolescents, but also due to different methods used to diagnose eating disorders NOS and different diagnostic criteria used.<sup>82</sup>

Binge eating disorder is classified under eating disorders NOS. A two-phase study among Europeans from the age of 18 years, including Dutch participants, found a lifetime prevalence for binge eating disorder of 1.9 percent for women and 0.3 percent for men.<sup>113</sup> In the United States, the lifetime prevalence of binge eating disorder is 3.5 percent for women aged 18 and older, and 2.0 percent for men aged 18 and older.<sup>114</sup> The committee expects that lifetime prevalence would be higher in both studies if younger age groups were also examined. Other studies were performed with a one-time interview, not a two-phase method. Therefore, the data below and any trends should be assessed with the necessary care. The prevalence of binge eating disorder was 1 percent in a 1995 study among the Australian population aged 15 years and older, and was equally common among men and women.<sup>80</sup> 3 percent of teenage girls and 1 percent of teenage boys in the United States suffer from binge eating disorder.<sup>131</sup>

The abovementioned studies found a correlation between the risk of binge eating and body weight or BMI.<sup>80,114,131</sup> About 30 percent of people with obesity who seek treatment suffer from binge eating disorder. Among people with obesity who do not seek treatment, this figure is around 5 percent. Binge eating disor-

ders appear to be more common in people with obesity who seek treatment than among those who do not.<sup>132</sup>

Possible rise in the prevalence of binge eating

Studies suggest that the prevalence of binge eating may be increasing. For example, a one-phase Australian study found a prevalence of 3 percent in 1995, and 7 percent in 2005. This increase in prevalence of binge eating remained significant even after correction for changes in body weight.<sup>133</sup>

Incidence and prevalence of binge eating among children under the age of 15 years

Binge eating occurs in 2 percent of 5 and 6 year-old German children<sup>134</sup> and 9 percent of 8 to 13 year-old Australian children.<sup>135</sup> As is the case for adults, overweight is associated with an increased risk of binge eating.<sup>134,135</sup>

Of children and adolescents who seek treatment for overweight, between 15 and 18 percent have experienced loss of control over food, independently of the amount of food they consume. <sup>119,136,137</sup>

# 3.4 Trends in occurrence of eating disorders and overweight and obesity

The above paragraphs indicate that the increase in overweight and obesity since the 1980s has been accompanied by a slight drop in the number of bulimia nervosa cases.<sup>112</sup> Whether it has also been associated with a significant change in the number of anorexia nervosa cases is unclear. The incidence of anorexia nervosa among girls between the ages of 15 and 19 years increased between the late 1980s and the 1990s, but as previously indicated, this may be due to improved registration and early diagnosis.<sup>112</sup> Whether the increase in overweight also correlates with the incidence of binge eating disorder or eating disorders NOS is unclear: Dutch data are lacking on this subject. Australian data do show an increase in the number of people with binge eating, but the data quality is limited.<sup>133</sup>

The government has been implementing an active prevention policy against overweight since 2003. Whether introduction of government policy in 2003 was accompanied by a change in the incidence of eating disorders could not be determined at the time of writing, as data on this subject was lacking.

Eating disorders

## 3.5 Risk factors for eating disorders

# 3.5.1 Factors associated with the development of or having eating disorders

How eating disorders develop is not known. Most insights into the role of potential risk factors for developing eating disorders come from cross-sectional casecontrol studies and a limited number of prospective cohort studies.<sup>3</sup> Eating disorders appear to be caused by a combination of multiple factors that may reinforce each other.<sup>5</sup> These factors may be categorised as follows: specific psychological factors, general psychological factors, cultural and environmental factors, hereditary factors, and biological factors (Table 4). Protective factors for eating disorders are often opposite risk factors. An example of a protective factor is participating in sports that do not require you to be light or beautiful.<sup>138</sup>

It is unclear whether each factor has a causative and/or maintaining effect on the risk of eating disorders.<sup>3,139</sup>

Table 4 Factors associated with the development of eating disorders in relation to preve	ntion of
overweight and obesity.3	

Factors associated with the development of eating disorders	
Specific psychological factors	
Negative body image	
Irrational worries about weight	
Risky dieting behaviour	
Fear of getting fat	
General psychological risk factors	
Lack of self-confidence	
Negative self-image and feeling of ineffectiveness	
Focus on performance and perfectionism	
Obsessive personality traits and a strong need for control	
Anxiety	
Impulsiveness	
Sociocultural factors	
Taking part in sports that require low weight or beauty	

#### 3.5.2 Psychological risk factors

The following specific psychological factors are considered to be characteristic signs of incipient eating disorders: negative body image; irrational worries about weight; risky dieting behaviour in the form of eating extremely little, skipping meals, self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives and diuretics; and the fear of

getting fat.<sup>3</sup> With regard to the correlation between dieting and eating disorders, dieting focused on weight loss is seen as a necessary but insufficient prerequisite for the development of anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa.<sup>140</sup>

General psychological factors are not only associated with the development of eating disorders, but also with the development of other mental disorders. This includes a lack of self-confidence, negative self-image and feeling of ineffectiveness, a focus on performance and perfectionism, obsessive personality traits and a strong need for control, and anxiety. Impulsiveness is specifically linked to the development of eating disorders of the bulimic or purging types.

## 3.5.3 Cultural and environmental factors

Cultural and environmental factors associated with the development of eating disorders are the thinness ideal for girls and women with low self-confidence and a negative body image, and the type of sports taken part in. Women competing in professional sports in which low weight or beauty are important run a higher risk of developing eating disorders than women who do not play sports, or play other sports.<sup>3</sup> The media is also mentioned as a risk factor associated with the development of eating disorders, although there is no evidence for this. Given the broad public attention for the potential role of the thinness ideal and the media in the development of eating disorder, the issue is examined in greater detail below.

#### Thinness ideal

The thinness ideal is associated with developing eating disorders in girls and women with low self-confidence and a negative body image in particular.<sup>3</sup> It appears that this vulnerability is partly genetic.<sup>141,142</sup> Only a small percentage of all people who diet develop an eating disorder. People with low self-confidence who are dissatisfied with their body can internalise this thinness ideal. When these individuals lose weight, they may gain self-confidence and go overboard with the weight loss.<sup>3,111</sup> Girls and women with eating disorders appear to pay greater attention to this thinness ideal after the eating disorder has begun.<sup>143</sup>

One argument that is made for the thinness ideal as a risk factor for developing eating disorders is that the number of patients with eating disorders increases as countries and population groups adopt a more western lifestyle, and thin is valued over fuller figured as an ideal.<sup>3,5,111</sup> Countries in which the physical ideal shifts from full figured to thin often undergo a concurrent shift from traditional lifestyles in rural areas to modern lifestyles in urban areas, often including a dif-

Eating disorders

ferent position of women in society and more liberal sexual mores. These changes may also influence the risk of eating disorders.<sup>3,111</sup>

#### Influence of the media

There is no consensus on the specific influence the media has on the development of eating disorders. This encompasses not only the use of extremely thin models, but also TV shows and articles emphasising weight and looks, such as weight loss shows, extreme makeover programmes and advertising weight loss products. These programmes may have unintended negative effects, such as increasing dissatisfaction with the body and risky dieting behaviour.<sup>144-147</sup>

The influence of the media is difficult to study. Every social problem – such as prejudice, bullying or violence – is embedded in a broad array of social influences, and the role of the media in this process cannot be viewed in isolation. Research into the harmful influence of the media shows no direct causal link between exposure to media and violence or other social problems, but that certain media images and content can, under certain circumstances, be harmful to certain individuals.<sup>148,149</sup>

There are internet sites that glorify eating disorders such as anorexia nervosa. These so-called pro-ana sites, of which there are over 250,000<sup>\*</sup>, may play a role in the progression of eating disorders by stimulating risky dieting behaviour, thereby strengthening identification with a movement promoting anorexia nervosa as an acceptable lifestyle.<sup>150,151</sup> The committee is not aware of any studies into the effects of social networks such as Hyves, Facebook and other 'new media' outlets on the course of eating disorders.

Media literacy training is part of some programmes for preventing eating disorders. Media literacy training teaches pupils to critically examine advertising messages, and reduces internalisation of the thinness ideal and improves their personal body image. However, there is insufficient evidence to determine whether this training also improves other factors associated with developing eating disorders. Studies have also not been running long enough to determine whether media literacy training can contribute to preventing eating disorders.<sup>153</sup>

A google search for the terms pro-anorexia, pro-ana sites, thinspiration and anorexicnation results in 257,000, 18,600, 14,200 and 577 hits, respectively.<sup>150</sup>

#### 3.5.4 Model-based research into the development of eating disorders

Various researchers have studied the development of eating disorders using mathematical models. These models compare various ways in which eating disorders, particularly bulimia nervosa, may develop. Overall, these models show that low self-esteem may be an important risk factor for the development of eating disorders, as well as dissatisfaction with the body, weight-related teasing from family or friends, striving to get thinner, a higher BMI and the influence of the media<sup>\*</sup>.<sup>154</sup>

An example of a model for the development of binge eating and bulimia nervosa is the dual-pathway model. This model states that the experienced pressure to be thin, the internalisation of the thinness ideal and a high BMI increase dissatisfaction with the body. In turn, this negative body image increases the risk of binge eating and bulimia nervosa in two ways: experiencing negative feelings and emotions such as depression and anxiety, and restrained eating, defined as limiting food intake in order to maintain or decrease body weight.<sup>89,93,155</sup> However, there is no direct correlation between an elevated BMI and the risk of binge eating or bulimia nervosa.<sup>3</sup> Additional prospective studies have only confirmed the development of these eating disorders via negative feelings and emotions. The effect of negative feelings and emotions on the risk of binge eating and bulimia nervosa appears to be due to not sufficiently listening to or sensing feelings of satiation and via emotional eating. The development of binge eating and bulimia nervosa via restrained eating is not confirmed by additional studies. This is likely caused in part by the fact that restrained eating encompasses a broad variety of dieting behaviours.156-160

#### 3.6 Prevention of eating disorders

#### 3.6.1 Current state of affairs

The prevention of eating disorders receives far less attention than that of overweight. In 2006, 28 percent of the mental health prevention teams addressed the prevention of eating disorders in children, and 19 percent in adults.<sup>161</sup> There is no national coverage for preventive activities. The offerings in the field are also fractured.<sup>162</sup> The mental health prevention field is currently exploring how best

\* The author does not specify this influence.

Eating disorders

to address the psychosocial and psychological aspects of (un)healthy eating behaviour.<sup>162</sup>

The universal and selective prevention activities consist of information for the public via websites, guest lectures at school, expertise promotion in intermediary target groups and information and advice via e-mail. Indicated and carerelated preventive activities encompass self-help groups, eating disorder courses, informational gatherings for parents and other involved parties, support groups for parents and aftercare for self-help groups.<sup>163</sup>

Recent prevention programmes focus on addressing both general and specific psychological factors associated with developing eating disorders (Table 4). The most recent prevention programmes target positive goals such as gaining self-confidence and a positive body image, and enjoying appropriate eating and physical activity.<sup>164</sup> Selective and indicated prevention provides more information about how help may be sought.<sup>165</sup>

The care-related prevention of eating disorders is described in the Multidisciplinary Eating Disorders guideline.<sup>3</sup> This emphasises an integrated approach to treatment that not only focuses on eating behaviour, body weight and body image, but also on general psychological problems including insecurity, perfectionism and traumas, as well as on difficulties in social functioning.

#### 3.6.2 Effectiveness: theory

In general, prevention is more likely to be successful if focused on behavioural change rather than solely on increasing knowledge, and if research, theory and practice are linked.<sup>52,166</sup> Current prevention programmes for eating disorders are supported by research into risk factors and effects of previous prevention programmes. It remains unclear whether setting up prevention programmes for eating disorders also addresses the three essential components for achieving behavioural change: increasing awareness and motivation; setting goals and improving skills; and creating a supportive environment. Whether research, theory and implementation are linked when setting up programmes is also unclear.

#### 3.6.3 Effectiveness: implementation

Whether programmes for the prevention of eating disorders are effective has not been studied.<sup>3</sup> Research has been done into the effects of these programmes on factors associated with the development of eating disorders.

A Cochrane review from 2002 concluded that no firm conclusions may be drawn regarding the effectiveness of universal or selective eating disorder pre-

vention programmes for children and adolescents. The only significant result of the meta analysis showed a small improvement with regard to internalisation of social ideals about appearance using media literacy training. Universal and indicated prevention programmes as well as programmes focused on improving self-worth had no clear effects.\*

A more recent review article also found no firm conclusions could be drawn regarding the effects of internet-based eating disorder prevention programmes targeting adolescents and students. The number and scope of the studies is too limited for this.<sup>167</sup>

Another recent review article examining the effect of prevention programmes focused on worries about weight among primary school pupils shows improved knowledge about nutrition among children. There was also limited evidence that the programmes increase self-worth. There were no signs that the programmes improved worries about the body or problematic eating behaviours.<sup>168</sup>

A critical note regarding the above review articles is that prevention programmes are often offered to an entire classroom or an unselected group, while most pupils do not lack self-esteem or have a negative body image. This makes it difficult to find an effect in these outcome measures.

Furthermore, the nature of prevention programmes for eating disorders in the Netherlands has changed over time. Originally, prevention in the Netherlands was focused on early identification of eating disorders. This only achieved limited success, because there is no valid and sensitive method for tracking them down. Additionally, people who were tracked down were generally not motivated to accept their eating disorder or seek help for it. The prevention that followed also achieved limited success. It consisted of universal prevention classes about eating disorders at schools. These lessons improved knowledge about risk factors, characteristics and consequences of eating disorders, and to a lesser degree affected attitudes regarding thinness and dieting, but had hardly any effect on behaviour.<sup>164</sup> Additionally, negative effects of eating disorder lessons have been reported. Among other things, this relates to classes in which eating disorders are glamorised or normalised.<sup>3,164</sup> There are signs that awareness raising about anorexia nervosa that use examples of very thin women strengthen risky dieting behaviours in pupils already engaging in them or those with anorexia nervosa.<sup>153</sup> Current prevention activities are mostly focused on individuals who are at (higher) risk of developing an eating disorder. The expertise of intermediate

The Cochrane review is currently under revision, during which the impact of clustered randomised studies is being determined.

Eating disorders

target groups such as GPs and paediatricians, teachers, sports instructors and informal carers is also promoted.<sup>163</sup>

## 3.6.4 Characteristics of effective programmes

A number of review articles with less stringent inclusion criteria than the metaanalyses mentioned above examined characteristics of prevention programmes associated with greater effectiveness.<sup>169-171</sup> The best results appear to be obtained through indicated (rather than universal) interactive prevention programmes targeting a high-risk group of girls over the age of 15 years, who are approached by professionals and receive multiple sessions rather than a single session. Programmes about body acceptance, in which differences between observations or ideas and an individual's beliefs are highlighted (dissonance induction), without lessons about eating disorders, using validated research tools and a short followup yielded the best results.<sup>169-171</sup> A fourth review of studies into the prevention of eating disorders among students identified a prevention programme focused on improving media literacy, particularly with regard to the thinness ideal, and dissonance induction, in which older students teach younger students in order to improve the self-confidence of both, as successful elements warranting further study. Computers and the internet appear to be useful tools for prevention activities.152

Despite the fact that indicated prevention programmes appear to be more effective than universal prevention programmes, Noordenbos and Vandereycken also call for universal prevention.<sup>153</sup> By emphasising positive goals, such as healthy diet, appropriate physical activity, critical examination of the thinness ideal and promoting a positive body and self-image, extreme dieting may be prevented among young people with low self-esteem and a negative body image. As a second step, pupils with a negative body image and risky dieting behaviour, such as eating extremely little, skipping meals, self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives and diuretics, could be offered an indicated prevention programme aimed at changing knowledge about nutrition, physical activity, self-worth, body image and risky dieting behaviour. It is also very important to address improving regulation of emotions and dealing with negative emotions and stress. The effectiveness of the above two-stage preventive strategy has not yet been examined in detail.<sup>153,164</sup>

Finally, the question of whether prevention of eating disorders may promote overweight or obesity has not been examined.

#### 3.7 Conclusion

This advisory report identifies three categories of eating disorders: anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and eating disorders NOS, which includes binge eating disorder. Eating disorders can have severe social, mental and physical effects.

Anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa occur primarily among 15 to 24 yearold women: the incidence of anorexia nervosa is 0.4 percent per year, and that of bulimia nervosa is 1.5 percent per year. In clinical practice, only a few percent of patients are men. In general practice, this figure lies around 5 percent. Little is known about the incidence and prevalence of anorexia nervosa and bulimia in groups younger than 15 years of age. Anorexia nervosa is seen sporadically in children, while bulimia nervosa is extremely rare in young children who are not yet sexually mature. The incidence of anorexia nervosa appears to have shifted towards the younger age group of 15 to 19 year-olds, and that of bulimia nervosa towards the younger age group of 15 to 24 year-olds between the late 1980s and the 1990s. This shift may be explained by improved registration and early diagnosis.

The overall percentage of people with anorexia nervosa has remained stable since the 1980s, and the percentage of people with bulimia nervosa may have decreased slightly. No data is available to confirm whether the incidence of eating disorders has changed since the government implemented an active policy for the prevention of overweight and obesity in 2003.

There is also no information available on the incidence of eating disorders NOS in the Netherlands. A limited number of international studies have examined this disorder, despite the fact that 60% of patients with an eating disorder are classified as having an eating disorders NOS. The majority of these patients is female. A little more is known about the incidence of binge eating disorder, a specific form of eating disorders NOS. Data from the Netherlands and international data show that binge eating disorder occurs in 1 to 2 % of the population, with a lifetime prevalence that is two to six times higher in women than in men.

How eating disorders develop is not known. Eating disorders appear to be caused by a combination of multiple factors that may reinforce each other. These factors may be categorised as follows: specific psychological factors, general psychological factors, cultural and environmental factors, hereditary factors, and biological factors (Table 4). It is unclear whether each factor has a causative or maintaining effect on the risk of developing eating disorders.

Eating disorders

No firm conclusions may be drawn regarding the effectiveness of prevention programmes, although there are characteristics associated with greater effectiveness, such as indicated prevention rather than universal programmes.

Current prevention activities are mostly focused on individuals who are at higher risk of developing an eating disorder. The expertise of intermediate target groups such as GPs, paediatricians, teachers, sports instructors and informal carers is also promoted.

# Chapter 4

# Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

This chapter examines what is known about the potential beneficial or adverse effects of prevention of overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders. Reports of unintended effects of other prevention programmes are also discussed.

## 4.1 Conditions for an effect of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders

It is unclear to what degree and how attention for preventing overweight and obesity may influence the risk of eating disorders. There are, however, a number of conditions for prevention programmes for overweight and obesity to affect the risk of eating disorders.

One condition is that the groups targeted by prevention measures also run the risk of an eating disorder. This condition is met, as the prevention of overweight and obesity targets all layers of the population, including the group with the greatest risk of developing eating disorders: girls and women between the ages of 15 and 24 years.<sup>3,4,6,21,24-26</sup> Additionally, binge eating disorder, binge eating and risky dieting behaviour are more common among people with overweight or obesity than among people with a normal body weight.<sup>98,114,132</sup> <sup>97</sup>

Another condition is that prevention of overweight and obesity must influence risk factors for eating disorders. Factors have been identified that are associated with the development of eating disorders, but whether this correlation is

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

causal or helps maintain the disorders is unknown (Table 4).<sup>3</sup> The most plausible correlations have been found with signs of an incipient eating disorder, such as negative body image; irrational worries about weight; risky dieting behaviour; and the fear of getting fat. According to Bauer, Haines and Neumark-Sztainer, prevention programmes that emphasise weight and weight loss may stimulate risky dieting behaviour, dissatisfaction with the body, stigmatisation and weight-related teasing.<sup>172</sup> Because these factors are also associated with the risk of overweight and obesity, Bauer et al. expect that programmes that put weight at the forefront and stimulate weight loss are also less effective in preventing overweight. Other authors make similar points.<sup>173,174</sup> They base their statements on links that have been found in cross-sectional and cohort studies. These authors expect that prevention programmes that do not focus on weight, but rather emphasise healthy diet and sufficient physical activity will be more effective in preventing overweight and have no or a protective effect on the development of eating disorders.

The effect of awareness raising is generally affected by the tone of the preventive campaign as well as the determinants and influenceability of behaviour. For example, scare tactics are not effective in changing behaviour. Personal vulnerability, the effectiveness of alternative behaviour and belief that this alternative behaviour is feasible are.<sup>175</sup> The ultimate effect of prevention activities also depends on the influenceability of a person's eating and physical activity habits.<sup>3</sup> Determinants of eating and physical activity behaviour may be classified as follows: knowledge, attitude (weighing up the advantages and disadvantages of a certain behaviour), perceived social norms (what do others think of the behaviour, what do others do), perceived behavioural control (assessing own skills and abilities to adopt a behaviour) and factors in the social, cultural, physical, political and economic environment. Additionally, there are signs that personality traits such as thrill seeking or a lack of self-control promote more than one form of health-threatening behaviour.<sup>175</sup>

# 4.2 Research into the effect of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders

No good, controlled studies have been performed examining the effect of universal, selective, indicated or care-related prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on the incidence of eating disorders in the intervention and control groups. This is the conclusion of two recent systematic review articles examining whether programmes for preventing overweight and obesity may promote the

development of eating disorders in children.<sup>57,176</sup> No systematic reviews have been published for adults.

Research has been done into the effects of prevention of overweight and obesity on factors associated with the development of eating disorders, which are often signs of an incipient eating disorder. This study primarily examined effects of universal and care-related prevention. No research has been done examining this effect for selective prevention, and hardly any for indicated prevention.

#### 4.2.1 Universal prevention

Most universal prevention programmes are implemented in schools.

#### Children

Carter and Bulik<sup>176</sup> made an inventory of 22 controlled studies into the effect of universal prevention of overweight and obesity on signs of incipient eating disorders in children. This included underweight, binge eating, risky dieting behaviour, restrained eating and excessive physical activity. The interventions assessed emphasised healthy diet and sufficient physical activity.

The first conclusion of the Carter and Bulik review article concerns data quality: only a small number of studies looked at signs of an incipient eating disorder – binge eating, undesired compensatory behaviour and dissatisfaction with the body – and the methods used were not always optimal. Extensive data was collected on weight change and physical activity, but this was not reported in a way that allows the number of children losing weight or exercising excessively to be identified.<sup>176</sup>

The second conclusion of the review article is that it is still too early to draw conclusions about the impact of universal prevention programmes on eating disorders. Most studies did not find significant differences between the intervention and control groups in terms of signs of an incipient eating disorder. The studies that did find significant differences largely tended to suggest a protective effect on signs of an incipient eating disorder.<sup>176</sup> Only one study showed a single outcome measure, risky dieting behaviour<sup>\*</sup> – such as skipping meals and fasting – to be promoted by a prevention programme.<sup>176-178</sup>

The second review article<sup>57</sup> examined whether universal prevention programmes at schools increase the incidence of underweight or contribute to

This dieting behaviour was determined using the Elementary school version of the McKnight Risk Factor Survey.<sup>177</sup>

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

weight loss among 6 to 19 year-old children with normal weight. It concluded that there was insufficient data to assess the impact of prevention programmes on these undesirable effects, which is consistent with Carter and Bulik's conclusion.<sup>176</sup>

The above meta-analyses encompass publications up to 2005. Since then, new research into potential effects of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity at schools has been published (Table 5). Various studies have examined whether these prevention programmes influence the incidence of risky dieting behaviour, directed weight loss, dissatisfaction with the body and underweight.

There is only one study in which the schools in the control group were also exposed to a prevention programme. <sup>179</sup> In this study, Austin et al examined whether prevention programmes at schools influence the development of risky dieting behaviour in girls in early adolescence, in the form of self-induced vomiting or the use of laxatives or diet pills to prevent weight gain or promote weight loss.<sup>179</sup> The prevention programme aimed to promote healthy diet, stimulate physical activity and reduce TV watching. Additionally, schools were aided in defining policies on nutrition and physical activity. In the study, the risk of developing risky dieting behaviour had more than halved in the group of girls who had completed the two-year prevention programme compared to those in the control group. No effect was found on risky dieting behaviours in boys.<sup>179</sup>

In other studies, the control group did not receive a prevention programme, but followed the normal curriculum. All of these prevention programmes were entirely or partially implemented through the school, and focused on improving nutrition, increasing physical activity and decreasing television watching, involving not only the children but also their families.<sup>180-185</sup> One of these studies was also performed by Austin et al. The study concluded that a prevention programme lowered the risk of developing risky dieting behaviours (i.e. selfinduced vomiting or use of laxatives or diet pills) in girls when compared to the normal curriculum. No effect was found on risky dieting behaviours in girls that were already dieting or in boys.<sup>180</sup> Other studies into prevention programmes did not find after two to four years any differences in percentages of individuals striving for weight loss<sup>182</sup>, with a negative body image<sup>181</sup> or underweight.<sup>181-183</sup> In one study, a prevention programme lowered the average BMI of children in the intervention group compared with the group following the normal curriculum, but this drop was limited to overweight children. No differences in attitudes towards food were found between this intervention group and the group following the normal curriculum.<sup>184</sup> Finally, one Dutch study combining universal and indicated prevention found a decrease in the number of girls worrying about their weight in the control group, but not in the intervention group. The authors cannot

draw conclusions based on this finding, because the groups were too small to classify into weight categories. There was no increase in the number of children with overweight.<sup>185</sup> Another study in which snacks with a low nutritional value were either removed from the school cafeteria or not did not find any differences between the intervention and control groups in terms of worries about weight and attempts to lose weight.<sup>186</sup>

#### Adults

Hardly any research has been conducted into the effects of universal prevention of overweight and obesity on signs of incipient eating disorders in adults. An exception is the evaluation of the Nutrition Centre's Balance Day in 2007, about 18 months after its launch. The Balance Day focuses on preventing weight gain by compensating days of excess eating with days of less eating and/or more physical activity. There are no signs from a randomised, controlled intervention study and a qualitative study that the Balance Day promotes intensive or risky dieting behaviour in the form of leaving out potatoes, rice or meat without compensating, eating less at breakfast or the use of diet pills or laxatives.<sup>187,188</sup> These studies only looked at how people used or intended to use the Balance Day. Actual behaviour was not measured.

Because the Balance Day taken to extremes resembles bulimic eating behaviour, there is some concern about the potential for undesired effects. People with retrained eating behaviour who know they will be eating a calorie-limited diet for a week eat more the day before than if they do not expect caloric limitation. People who do not exhibit restrained eating behaviour do not let their energy intake be affected by this knowledge.<sup>189</sup> In another study, women who were dieting were given the choice between a high-calorie and low-calorie cookie. Women who were planning to compensate for the consumption of the cookie were more likely to chose the calorie-rich cookie.<sup>190</sup> These findings could indicate that if people with restrained eating behaviour plan on taking a Balance Day, they anticipate by eating more the day before. This entails the risk of overcompensating and developing a bulimic eating pattern.

In general, the effect of mass media awareness-raising campaigns on behaviour is modest at best. Programmes with demonstrable effects combine mass media awareness-raising activities with other activities, such as changes to the target group's environment.<sup>175</sup> On the one hand, the effects of awareness-raising campaigns should not be overestimated, but on the other hand a small effect cannot be ruled out.

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

Author	Number of schools Sample size, age at start	Intervention
Austin <i>et al</i> . 2005 <sup>180</sup>	10 schools, 480 girls, 10-14 years old	Intervention: Prevention programme ( <i>Planet Health</i> ) focused on healthy diet, physical activity and reducing television watching Control: standard curriculum
Austin <i>et al.</i> 2007 <sup>179</sup>	13 schools, 749 girls and 702 boys, ages not reported (grades 6 and 7 in middle school)	Intervention: Stimulating healthydiet and physical activity with the <i>Planet Health Curriculum</i> and <i>School Health Index for</i> <i>Physical Activity and Healthy Eating</i> Control: only module 1 of the <i>School Health Index</i> , focused on school policy, environment and drafting a plan of action, which is evaluated in a report after 2 years.
Plachta-Danielzik <i>et al.</i> <sup>183</sup>	32 primary schools, 1764 children, 6-10 years old	Intervention: messages about healthy diet, physical activity and watching television for children, parents and teachers. Control: standard curriculum.
Foster et al. <sup>181</sup>	10 schools, 1349 children, average age 11 years old	Intervention consists of five components: school self- assessment; education about nutrition; nutritional policy; social marketing and parents ( <i>School Nutrition Policy</i> <i>Initiative</i> ). Control: standard curriculum.
Meima <i>et al</i> . 2008 <sup>185</sup>	16 schools, 1273 children, average age 8 years old, and 1143 children, average age 12 years old	Intervention: change in environment, more physical activity and lessons about energy balance and health lifestyles for children; parents receive education and consultation by a youth nurse if their child is overweight ( <i>Lekker fit! Campaign</i> ). Control: standard curriculum.
Sanigorski et al. <sup>182</sup>	26 schools, 2084 children, 4-12 years old	Intervention: Society-wide programme stimulating healthy diet, physical activity and a healthy weight for children and their family ( <i>Be Active Eat Well</i> ) Control: standard curriculum.
Marcus <i>et al</i> . 2009 <sup>184</sup>	10 schools, 3135 children, 6-10 years old	Intervention: Stimulating the use of low-fat dairy products and whole-wheat bread and removing candy and sweetened drinks, increasing physical activity at school and during after school activities. Control: standard curriculum. Parents only received information about the objective of the study, not the content of the study.
Schwartz <i>et al</i> . 2009 <sup>186</sup>	6 schools, 501 children in the first year and 495 other children in the second year, age not reported (middle school)	r Intervention: removing snacks with a poor nutritional value from the school's offerings. Control: standard curriculum.

Table 5 Summary of recent studies into the impact of universal prevention programmes for overweight and

obesity on pathological eating behaviour	
Psychological measures	Outcome for psychological measures
Risky dieting behaviour (modified from the Centers for Disease Control and Youth Risk Behavioural Surveillance System): self-induced vomiting or use of laxatives or diet pills in the past 30 days.	After a 21-month follow-up: 6.2 % of girls in the control schools and 2.8 % of girls in the intervention schools reported risky dieting behaviour (OR=0.41, 95% confidence interval 0.22-0.75). The effect appears to be limited to girls who were not dieting at the beginning of the study.
Risky dieting behaviour (modified from the Centers for Disease Control and Youth Risk Behavioural Surveillance System): self-induced vomiting or use of laxatives or diet pills in the past 30 days.	After a 2-year follow-up: 3.6 % of girls in the control schools and 1.2 % of girls in the intervention schools reported risky dieting behaviour (OR=0.33, 95% confidence interval 0.11- 0.97).
Underweight (< 10th percentile).	After a 4-year follow-up: prevalence of children with underweight has not changed in the intervention or control group.
Underweight; dissatisfaction with the body ( <i>Eating Disorder Inventory-2</i> ).	After a 2-year follow-up: no effect on the incidence, remission or prevalence of underweight or dissatisfaction with the body.
Perception of own weight.	After a 1-year follow-up: girls in the intervention group are slightly more worried (from 61% to 63%) about their weight than girl in the control group (from 57% to 49%).
Underweight; self-reported information about satisfaction with figure and body weight, attempts to lose weight, episodes of teasing.	After a 3-year follow-up: no effect on the prevalence of underweight; dissatisfaction with the body; attempts to lose weight in the past year; or weight-related teasing.
Attitudes towards eating (Children's Eating Attitudes Test).	After a 4-year follow-up: no effect on attitudes regarding eating.
3 questions about worries about weight and whether students try to lose weight (from the <i>School-Based Nutrition</i> <i>Monitoring student questionnaire</i> ).	One year after removing snacks: no effect on worries about weight and attempts to lose weight.

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

#### 4.2.2 Selective prevention

The committee is not aware of any research into the effects of selective prevention of overweight and obesity on signs of an incipient eating disorder in groups at high risk of overweight or obesity such as non-western immigrants and people with a low socioeconomic status.

### 4.2.3 Indicated prevention

Indicated prevention of overweight in the form of weight loss with professional supervision does not appear to have any negative effects on the risk of eating disorders in children, and can reduce binge eating in adults.<sup>191-194</sup>

Additionally, limited research is available on the effects of indicated prevention for overweight in children on the behaviour of parent and child. Effects on signs of an incipient eating disorder in children may in part be influenced by parents. Research from Great Britain and the United States shows that the use of BMI charts does not help raise parental awareness of their child's overweight. Research into whether the use of these cards also leads to changes in behaviour aimed at achieving a healthy weight or in weight itself do not yield clear results. There are signs from various studies that the use of these cards causes parents to encourage their children to diet, avoid certain foods and become more active, or at least plan to do so. As previously noted, dieting is not necessarily harmful: it depends on how it is done. Despite explicit advice, only a proportion of parents indicate they will seek professional help.<sup>195,196</sup>

In the state of Arkansas in the United States, the use of BMI charts was made mandatory in all schools in 2003. After four years, pupils in Arkansas reported no change in weight-related teasing, no increase in worries about weight, and no increase in dieting behaviour or use of diet pills.<sup>196</sup> During this period, risky dieting behaviour among youths decreased slightly on a national level. A comparison of state and national data indicated that pupils in Arkansas who had taken part in an indicated prevention programme using BMI charts in 2007 used significantly more diet pills, powders and drinks and laxatives, and vomited more often to control their weight than peers from a national survey. The differences were small, however. The percentage of young people exhibiting one of these forms of behaviour was between 5 and 10 percent in both groups.<sup>195</sup>

#### 4.2.4 Care-related prevention

There are no signs that the treatment of obesity – particularly professionally supervised weight loss – influences the development of eating disorders among children and adults.

One review based on five studies concluded that in children and adolescents, professionally supervised weight loss programmes entail minimal risks for the development of eating disorders.<sup>191</sup> Another review article<sup>197</sup> examined three studies, none of which found differences in the incidence of eating disorders or body image between groups using a professionally supervised weight loss diet and the control group.

In adults with obesity who did not suffer from binge eating prior to treatment, moderate calorie restriction (a diet with a caloric value of 500 to 700 kilocalories lower than the usual intake) combined with behavioural therapy to promote weight loss did not cause binge eating. In adults who suffered from repeated binge eating episodes prior to treatment, weight loss can decrease the frequency of binge eating in the short term. In general, mental welfare improvements are also seen during weight loss; these improvements disappear once the patient regains weight.<sup>192</sup> In a previous study, the decrease in the number of binge eating episodes appears to be greater as more weight is lost.<sup>198</sup>

#### 4.2.5 Unintended effects in other prevention programmes

As very little good research into unintended effects of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity is available, the committee also looked for examples of unintended effects of other prevention programmes. The committee found almost no such reports<sup>\*</sup>.<sup>199</sup>

The evaluation of prevention campaigns is generally focused on effectiveness and reasons why a (health) message does not come across or has no effect.<sup>200</sup>

\*

An exception to this rule is a cross-sectional study into the prevention of starting smoking in young people. In this study, the frequency of exposure to anti-tobacco commercials was associated with an increased chance of smoking. This finding was countered by the finding in the same study that the number of classes about smoking was associated with a small decrease in smoking and intention to start smoking.<sup>199</sup>

Prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

#### 4.3 Conclusion

No research has been conducted into the effects of prevention of overweight and obesity on eating disorders; however, studies have been conducted examining the effects on signs of incipient eating disorders. A large proportion of these studies have methodological problems such as the absence of a placebo treatment in the control group. Furthermore, signs of incipient eating disorders are difficult to measure optimally. These qualitatively limited studies did not show any clear indications that prevention of overweight and obesity affects signs of incipient eating disorders (Table 6).

However, two areas deserve further attention. Firstly, there is a possibility that universal and selective prevention programmes focused on healthy diet and appropriate physical activity may be protective for factors associated with developing eating disorders. Secondly, people with restrained eating behaviour may consume more energy if they plan to eat less the next day, for example by taking a Balance Day.

Table 6 Summary of conclusions with level of evidence (details in Annex D)

#### It is probable (level 2) that:

- Universal prevention programmes for overweight have no influence on underweight in children. B<sup>57,181-183</sup>
- Universal prevention programmes for overweight have no or a protective influence on signs of incipient eating disorders in children.
   B<sup>176</sup>
- Universal prevention programmes for overweight decrease the use of diet pills, laxatives and self-induced vomiting in order to maintain or lose weight in girls who are not already dieting. A2<sup>179</sup>, B<sup>180</sup>
- Indicated and care-related prevention programmes (weight loss under medical supervision) do not influence signs of incipient eating disorders in children with overweight or obesity. B191,197
- Indicated and care-related prevention programmes (weight loss under medical supervision) in individuals with overweight
  or obesity and binge eating can decrease the number of binge eating episodes in the short term.
  A2<sup>193</sup> B<sup>192, 194</sup>

It is possible (level 3) that:

- Universal prevention programmes for overweight have no effect on the use of diet pills, laxatives and self-induced vomiting in order to maintain or lose weight in boys and girls who are already dieting. B<sup>180</sup>
- Universal prevention programmes for overweight have no influence on signs of incipient eating disorders in adults. B<sup>187</sup>, C<sup>188</sup>
- The use of BMI charts in indicated prevention programmes promotes the use of diet pills, powders, drinks and laxatives and self-induced vomiting for the purpose of controlling body weight. C<sup>195</sup>
- People with restrained eating behaviour increase their energy intake if they expect to start dieting. B<sup>189</sup>

# Chapter

5

# Prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in perspective

This chapter discusses a proposal for broadening the prevention of overweight and obesity to encompass eating disorder prevention. Additionally, the committee places the effects of overweight and obesity prevention within the context of other social factors that may be associated with the development of eating disorders.

# 5.1 Proposal for combined prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders

## 5.1.1 A common foundation

The messages used in the prevention of overweight and obesity and the prevention of eating disorders partly overlap. Both prevention programmes emphasise healthy eating and sufficient, or in the case of eating disorders, appropriate physical activity.<sup>201</sup>

Some researchers in the field of eating disorders are of the opinion that the prevention of overweight and obesity can be expanded to include the prevention of eating disorders. The reason for this is that both programmes address self-worth and self-acceptance<sup>202</sup>, and that some people with overweight or obesity also suffer from eating disorder, particularly binge eating.<sup>132</sup> Conversely, the latter also means that some patients with binge eating disorder or bulimia nervosa

Prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in perspective

suffer from overweight or obesity. Researchers state they expect combined prevention may make the prevention of overweight and obesity more effective.

# 5.1.2 Central themes for combined prevention

There are various ways to define goals for a combined approach. Neumark-Sztainer et al propose two: the first is based on the potential negative effects of prevention programmes focused on weight and weight loss, such as risky dieting behaviour, body dissatisfaction and stigmatisation due to weight.<sup>172</sup> The second consists of recommendations for health care workers in order to achieve combined prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in adolescents. These recommendations are based on findings from the EAT project, which was designed to investigate social environmental factors, personal factors and behavioural factors that are related to eating and weight-related problems in adolescents. The project consisted of a cross-sectional study, a 5-year follow-up study and a qualitative study.<sup>203</sup> A third approach, broader than the previous two, is described in the guidelines for the prevention of obesity in children published by the Weight Realities Division of the Society for Nutrition Education in 2003. According to these guidelines, prevention should be built around total physical, mental and social health, rather than weight alone.<sup>204</sup>

The above approaches focus on three central themes:

- Teaching healthy diet and physical activity.
- Avoiding risky dieting behaviour.
- Gaining self-confidence and a positive body image.

A fourth theme that could be included in combined prevention programmes is improving coping mechanisms for negative emotions and stress.<sup>153</sup>

As theoretical and empirical foundations for the latter three of the four themes described are still weak, they should be viewed as potential parts of a prevention programme. Whether programmes implementing these four elements are successful in preventing eating disorders or improve prevention of overweight and obesity has not been examined. Effective prevention programmes focused on one of these four themes have been described, however. In some studies, this led to improvement of body image and satisfaction with the body, better methods for controlling weight and more self-confidence and personal skills in children, adolescents and young adults.<sup>152,169,176,179,180,205-207</sup>

There is a difference of opinion within the committee on whether improving body image should be a central message in the combined universal and selective prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders\* or should only be a goal to be achieved through other messages. Arguments to include it as a central message are that in teens with overweight, a positive body image appears to reduce the risk of risky dieting behaviour, as well as the risk of binge eating in boys and weight gain in girls.<sup>203,208</sup> Furthermore, in women completely obsessed by their weight, there appears to be a direct relationship between a negative body image and overeating.<sup>157</sup> However, these results only apply to children and adults with overweight. Because universal and selective prevention focus on (risk groups within) the general population, including people without overweight, part of the committee doubts whether including body image as a central message is feasible and necessary. The worry exists that this additional attention may have unintended consequences.

Despite these considerations, messages about responsible dieting, gaining self confidence and improving coping mechanisms for dealing with negative emotions and stress may become part of the combined universal and selective prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in addition to the central message about healthy diet and sufficient physical activity. In indicated prevention of overweight, attention may be given to a positive body image, as people with overweight and obesity often face stigmatisation. Stigmatisation may lead to a negative body image.<sup>6</sup> In care-related prevention of obesity, obtaining a positive body image is already part of the programme.<sup>8</sup>

#### 5.2 Effects of prevention programmes in perspective

Prevention programmes for overweight and obesity are implemented against a background of multiple sociocultural factors that may affect the development of eating disorders, overweight and obesity as well as the prevention thereof. For example, the beauty ideal for women is getting thinner and thinner, and more and more muscular for men, while the number of people with overweight and obesity has grown significantly over the past 30 years. There is a large number of commercial weight loss programmes and products addressing this discrepancy.<sup>146,209</sup> Finally, how people deal with food depends on the cultural background. In this paragraph, whether and how these sociocultural factors play a role in the development of eating disorders and their effect on prevention of overweight and obesity is examined.

Improving body image is a key message in the prevention of eating disorders.<sup>153</sup>

Prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in perspective

#### 5.2.1 Thinness ideal

As mentioned in Chapter 3, the thinness ideal contributes to many people's desire to lose weight and be thinner. But this factor alone is not enough to explain why only 1 to 3 percent of people who diet to lose weight develop an eating disorder. Psychological risk factors such as a lack of self-confidence, negative self-image and negative body image play a key role in the process.<sup>3,153</sup>

The thinness ideal appears to have an effect in overweight and obesity as well.<sup>210</sup> It seems that the thinness ideal can promote the stigmatisation of people with obesity, which can lead to a negative self-image and all associated psychosocial problems.<sup>6</sup>

## 5.2.2 Commercial weight loss programmes

A large number of commercial weight loss programmes address the consumer's need to lose weight. These vary from weight loss tea from the chemist's to following weight loss advice from popular diet gurus to weight loss competitions on television. In order to provide an impression of the size of the diet industry: in the late 1990s, the industry-generated income was about 50 billion dollars in the United States alone.<sup>211</sup> With a few notable exceptions, there is no solid evidence for the effectiveness of these weight loss programmes and products in terms of weight loss.<sup>212,213</sup> Some weight loss products even pose a health risk.<sup>214</sup>

The committee is not aware of research examining whether these weight loss programmes and products affect factors associated with the development of eating disorders. Furthermore, it remains unclear to what degree these commercial prevention programmes influence government messages on prevention of overweight and obesity.

#### 5.2.3 Cultural background

Little is known about the incidence of eating disorders among Dutch citizens with a non-western background, as mentioned previously in chapter 3.

Dutch people with non-western backgrounds who wish to become thinner or attempt to lose weight appear ambivalent with regard to the thinness ideal, as they still also hold more traditional views about ideal body shapes. In these groups, social norms about body shape, the social character of eating and hospitality may form a significant barrier to weight control.<sup>215,216</sup> Such cultural differences should be taken into account in prevention programmes.

#### 5.3 Conclusion

There are calls in the literature for expanding universal and selective prevention of overweight and obesity to include the prevention of eating disorders, because there is overlap between both forms of prevention. Central themes are teaching healthy diet and appropriate physical activity; avoiding risky dieting behaviour; increasing self-confidence; and improving coping mechanisms for dealing with negative emotions and stress. However, this combined approach has not yet been studied to determine effectiveness, although some studies examining sub-aspects of such a programme found better weight management methods, increased selfconfidence and improved personal skills.

This advisory report is focused on the potential influence of overweight and obesity prevention on the risk of eating disorders. In addition to prevention programmes for overweight and obesity, there are also other sociocultural factors that may play a role in the development of eating disorders, overweight and obesity as well as the prevention thereof. These include the effects of the thinness ideal, commercial weight loss programmes and products, and cultural differences.

Prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders in perspective

Chapter

6

# **Conclusions and recommendations**

This advisory report focuses on two main questions, namely whether there are signs that the prevention of overweight and obesity has a beneficial or adverse effect on the risk of eating disorders, and whether changes to preventive policy need to be made to prevent eating disorders. Two sub-questions will be answered regarding the definition of, the occurrence of, and prevention of overweight and obesity and eating disorders, respectively.

# 6.1 Conclusions

## 6.1.1 Overweight and obesity

The number of adults with obesity is still growing

Overweight (BMI between 25 and 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) increases the risk of type II diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular disease in adults, while children with overweight run a greater risk of overweight as adults. Obesity (BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) can have severe social, mental and physical effects on adults and children. In recent years, the percentage of adults with overweight appears to have stabilised at around 36 percent. Eleven percent of all adults is obese, and the number is still growing. 14% of children with a Dutch cultural background was overweight in 2010, and 2% were obese.

Conclusions and recommendations

# Overweight and obesity are caused by a long-term imbalance between calorie consumption and use

Overweight and obesity develop if energy intake exceeds energy expenditure for a long period of time. No dominant factor influencing this energy balance – or rather, imbalance – has been identified. The influence of environmental factors, the so-called obesogenic environment, appears to play a key role in the obesity epidemic.

Current prevention of overweight and obesity is focused on healthy diet and sufficient physical activity

Prevention programmes for overweight are categorised based on which target groups or individuals they address and the risk these groups have of developing overweight or obesity:

- Universal prevention is focused on the general population.
- Selective prevention targets unrequested groups in the population with a (high) risk of overweight or obesity, such as non-western immigrants and people with a low level of education.
- · Indicated prevention targets individuals with overweight.
- Care-related prevention targets individuals with obesity.

For universal and selective prevention projects, the emphasis lies on healthy diet and physical activity, in accordance with the 2006 Guidelines for a healthy diet by the Health Council. In creating these projects, research, theory and practice are linked with increasing frequency. Until recently, indicated and care-related prevention focused on preventing weight gain or promoting weight loss. Currently, the emphasis in these two forms of prevention has also shifted towards healthy diet and sufficient physical activity.

# 6.1.2 Eating disorders

Definitions of eating disorders, signs of incipient eating disorders and consequences

In this advisory report, the term eating disorders encompasses anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and eating disorders not otherwise specified (NOS), which includes binge eating disorder. The first two disorders are characterised by compulsive control of body weight via eating patterns. A person with anorexia ner-

vosa refuses to maintain a body weight at or above the normal weight for age and height. A person with bulimia nervosa has episodes of binge eating, during which large amounts of food are consumed in a short time, followed by attempts to compensate for the effects of binge eating on weight (including self-induced vomiting and/or laxative use). People with an eating disorders NOS show some symptoms of one or more eating disorders, such as anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa or binge eating disorder, or suffer from binge eating disorder. Binge eating disorder is similar to bulimia nervosa, but the episodes of binge eating are not compensated.

Signs of an incipient eating disorder: negative body image; irrational worries about weight; the fear of getting fat; risky dieting behaviour in the form of eating extremely little, skipping meals, self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives and diuretics.

Eating disorders can have severe social, mental and physical effects.

#### Eating disorders are more common in women than men

Anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa occur primarily among 15 to 24 year-old women. In young women, the annual incidence of anorexia nervosa is 0.4 percent, and that of bulimia nervosa is 1.5 percent. In clinical practice, only a few percent of patients are men. Research performed in general practice showed 5 percent of patients with anorexia nervosa to be male. Little is known about the occurrence of anorexia nervosa and bulimia in groups younger than 15 years of age. Anorexia nervosa is seen sporadically in children, while bulimia nervosa is extremely rare in young children who are not yet sexually mature.

There is also no information available on the incidence of eating disorders NOS in the Netherlands. A limited number of international studies have examined this disorder, despite the fact that 60% of patients with an eating disorder are classified as having an eating disorders NOS. The majority of these patients is female. A little more is known about the incidence of binge eating disorder, a specific form of eating disorders NOS. Data from the Netherlands and international data show that binge eating disorder occurs in 1 to 2 % of the population, with a *lifetime* prevalence that is two to six times higher in women than men. The risk of binge eating increases with body weight and BMI.

#### Eating disorders appear to begin at an increasingly young age

The incidence of anorexia nervosa appears to have shifted towards the younger age group of 15 to 19-year-olds, and that of bulimia nervosa towards the younger

Conclusions and recommendations

age group of 15 to 24-year-olds between the late 1980s and the late 1990s. This shift may be explained by improved registration and early diagnosis.

No data is available to confirm whether the incidence of eating disorders has changed since the government implemented an active policy for the prevention of overweight and obesity in 2003.

# 6.1.3 The effect of prevention of overweight and obesity on the risk of eating disorders

Assumption: prevention of overweight and obesity may influence the risk of eating disorders both favourably and unfavourably

There are two conditions for prevention programmes for overweight and obesity to affect the risk of eating disorders. The first condition is that the group at relatively high risk of eating disorders is a target group or is reached by prevention programmes for overweight and obesity. This condition is met by universal and selective prevention projects. The second condition is that prevention of overweight and obesity affects factors associated with developing eating disorders. Of these factors, signs of an incipient eating disorder, such as negative bodyimage; irrational worries about weight; risky dieting behaviour; and the fear of getting fat seem to be the most obvious.

Whether this effect is positive or negative may depend on the prevention programme's message. According to the literature, prevention programmes that emphasise weight and weight loss may stimulate risky dieting behaviour, dissatisfaction with the body, stigmatisation and weight-related teasing. The expectation is that prevention programmes that do not focus on weight, but rather emphasise healthy diet and sufficient physical activity will be more effective in preventing overweight and have no or a protective effect on the development of eating disorders.

Little good research is available on the relationship between prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of eating disorders

A majority of the research examining whether prevention of overweight and obesity influences signs of incipient eating disorders has methodological limitations. Most studies lack a control treatment. The signs of an incipient eating disorder were often not measured optimally. The risk of excessive physical activity was not examined.

These studies, of limited quality, found no or a protective effect on the risk of eating disorders, and do not provide reasons for changing current prevention policy for overweight and obesity

The research findings do not provide reasons for making changes to current policy on the prevention of overweight and obesity. The majority of the universal prevention programmes focuses on healthy diet and a healthy lifestyle, which has no or possibly a protective influence on signs of incipient eating disorders. No studies have been conducted examining the effects of selective prevention programmes. Very little research has been done into indicated prevention programmes. Within indicated and care-related prevention, there are no signs that weight loss under professional supervision influences the risk of eating disorders in children. Finally, in adults with overweight and obesity who suffer from binge eating, weight loss and calorie-restricted diets with professional support can reduce the number of binge eating episodes in the short term.

# Prevention programmes for overweight and obesity in perspective: other factors that may play a role in the development of eating disorders

The prevention of overweight and obesity takes place within the context of sociocultural factors that may also play a role in the development of eating disorders. Examples include the thinness ideal, commercial weight loss programmes and cultural differences. These sociocultural factors may also influence the effectiveness of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity.

There may be room for combined prevention of overweight, obesity and eating disorders

For both the prevention of overweight and obesity and the prevention of eating disorders, the emphasis lies on healthy diet and sufficient – or in the case of eating disorders, appropriate – physical activity. That is why the literature calls for expanding the universal and selective prevention of overweight and obesity with prevention of eating disorders. The additional themes should be: avoiding risky dieting behaviour, gaining self-confidence and a positive body image, improving coping mechanisms for dealing with negative emotions and stress. There is a difference of opinion within the committee on whether promoting a positive body image – one of the messages in the prevention of eating disorders – should be included as a central message or only as a goal in such a prevention programme.

Conclusions and recommendations

The other themes may be integrated as messages within the universal and selective prevention programmes.

This combined approach has not yet been studied to determine effectiveness, although some studies examining sub-aspects of such a programme found better weight management methods, increased self-confidence and improved personal skills.

# 6.2 Recommendations for further study

Study the effects of current prevention programmes for overweight and obesity in relation to the risk of eating disorders

The committee feels research should be done to examine the potential beneficial or adverse effects that prevention of overweight and obesity has on signs of incipient eating disorders. This research should be integrated within existing research among children and young people, and among other things examine items including disrupted body image, risky dieting behaviour, excessive physical activity and binge eating.

Study shared risk factors for overweight and obesity and eating disorders

The committee recommends expanding existing cohort studies in children and young people to look for shared risk factors for the development of overweight and obesity and eating disorders.

Study the effects of (commercial) weight loss programmes on the risk of eating disorders and the effectiveness of prevention of overweight and obesity

The committee recommends examining whether (commercial) weight loss programmes for overweight and obesity affect factors associated with developing eating disorders, and particularly signs of incipient eating disorders. Additionally, the committee recommends the influence of weight loss programmes on the effectiveness of public prevention of overweight and obesity be investigated.
#### Chapter

1

7

# Answers to the Minister's original questions

#### Is there a difference in susceptibility for eating disorders between men and women?

Yes. In clinical practice, about 98% of patients with anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa are women, while the percentage is around 95% for general practice. Binge eating disorder is two to six times more common among women than men. Eating disorders not otherwise specified (NOS), including binge eating disorder, are also more common in women than in men, although solid data is lacking.

A Finnish two-phase study among girls and young women found a lifetime prevalence of 2.2 percent for anorexia nervosa and of 2.3 percent for bulimia nervosa.<sup>116,117</sup> Lifetime prevalence figures for anorexia nervosa are lower in older birth cohorts. According to studies conducted among European and American adults, lifetime prevalence of anorexia nervosa is 0.9 percent among women, and varied between 0 and 0.3 percent among men. In these studies, lifetime prevalence of bulimia nervosa varied between 0.9 and 1.5 percent among women and 0.1 and 1.5 percent among men. Finally, lifetime prevalence of binge eating disorder varied from 1.9 to 3.5 percent in women and 0.3 to 2 percent in men.<sup>113,114</sup> These studies did not collect any data on the occurrence of eating disorders NOS. Other research has indicated this remaining group is the largest category in both clinical practice and among the general population (Table 3).<sup>75,76,115,130</sup>

Answers to the Minister's original questions

# Are we seeing an increase in the number of eating disorders in teens under the age of 15 years?

This cannot be said for certain. The incidence of anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa in general practice appeared to have shifted towards younger age groups between the late 1980s and the late 1990s. The incidence of anorexia nervosa among girls between the ages of 15 and 19 years almost doubled from 0.06 to 0.11 percent per year, while the incidence among women between the ages of 20 and 34 years dropped. For bulimia nervosa, the high-risk group shifted from 25 to 29-year-olds to 15 to 24-year-olds in the same period.<sup>112</sup>

Based on these data, it cannot be concluded that anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa are occurring at younger ages. This is because early diagnosis of anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa improved during this period, family doctors may have become better at recognising symptoms, and awareness of eating disorders has increased in the general public under the influence of the media.<sup>112</sup> However, it cannot be ruled out that the age at which eating disorders develop has dropped. For example, specialist treatment centres treat anorexia nervosa patients under the age of 12 years with increasing frequency.<sup>126</sup> Exact figures are not available.

The committee is not aware of any studies in other western nations in which a shift of the incidence of anorexia nervosa from older to younger age groups has been reported. Insufficient research has been done to draw any conclusions regarding the incidence and prevalence of eating disorders NOS or binge eating disorder among teens younger than 15 years of age, let alone to comment on any trends.

#### Eating disorders with names like Orthorexia nervosa and Anorexia athletica are mentioned in popular media outlets. How do these 'popular eating disorders' relate to current prevention policy on overweight and healthy diet?

The committee is not aware of any scientific research examining the relationship between the prevention of overweight and obesity and the risk of orthorexia nervosa or anorexia athletica. The committee has only investigated the link between awareness raising about healthy diet as part of the prevention of overweight and obesity. Orthorexia nervosa and anorexia athletica are not official eating disorders, which makes investigating them difficult. Orthorexia nervosa is extreme, compulsive healthy eating.<sup>3</sup> Regarding anorexia athletica, there has been debate

2

3

while drafting the DSM-5 about whether excess physical activity should be included in the definition of eating disorders.<sup>85</sup> Orthorexia nervosa and anorexia athletica describe behaviour that may signal the start of an eating disorder or may already be part of an eating disorder.<sup>3</sup>

One important comment on your question is that it is not entirely clear how eating disorders develop. Eating disorders appear to be caused by a combination of multiple factors that may reinforce each other. Alone, each individual factor is not enough to cause an eating disorder.<sup>3</sup> The literature assumes that the effect of overweight and obesity prevention on the risk of eating disorders depends on the target of the prevention. Prevention focused on weight and weight loss may increase the risk of eating disorders in susceptible individuals. On the other hand, prevention focused on healthy diet and appropriate physical activity may have protective effects.<sup>172-174</sup>

#### 4 Can the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport make changes to current prevention policy for overweight and obesity in order to avoid promoting the developing of eating disorders?

The committee sees no immediate reasons for changing current prevention policy. Research does not yield any clear signs that prevention of overweight and obesity with a focus on healthy diet and sufficient physical activity has an unfavourable effect on signs of incipient eating disorders such as underweight, binge eating, undesired compensatory behaviour and a negative body image.<sup>57,176</sup>

However, the problem is the poor methodological quality of most of the research into the effects of prevention programmes for overweight and obesity on signs of incipient eating disorders. Available research provides no or minimal insight into the effects on negative body image; irrational worries about weight; risky dieting behaviour in the form of eating extremely little, skipping meals, self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives and diuretics; and the fear of getting fat.<sup>3,57,176</sup> The methods used to measure these factors were often suboptimal.<sup>57,176</sup> Therefore, the committee recommends researching the effects of current preventive policy on these factors within the context of existing research, particularly among children and young people. It also recommends studies be performed examining shared risk factors for developing overweight, obesity and eating disorders within existing cohort studies of children and young people.

Answers to the Minister's original questions

1	Nota Overgewicht Uit balans: de last van overgewicht. Den Haag: Ministerie van Volksgezondheid,
	Welzijn en Sport; 2009.
2	American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fourth
	edition. Washington D.C.: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
3	Landelijke Stuurgroep Multidisciplinaire Richtlijnontwikkeling in de GGZ. Multidisciplinaire
	richtlijn Eetstoornissen. Diagnostiek en behandeling van eetstoornissen. Utrecht: Trimbos-instituut;
	2006.
4	Hoek HW. Incidence, prevalence and mortality of anorexia nervosa and other eating disorders. Curr
	Opin Psychiatry 2006; 19(4): 389-394.
5	Jacobi C, Hayward C, de Zwaan M, Kraemer HC, Agras WS. Coming to terms with risk factors for
	eating disorders: application of risk terminology and suggestions for a general taxonomy. Psychol
	Bull 2004; 130(1): 19-65.
6	Health Council of the Netherlands. Overweight and obesity. The Hague: Health Council of the
	Netherlands, 2003; publication no. 2003/07.
7	Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight
	and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000; 320(7244): 1240-1243.
8	Kwaliteitsinstituut voor de Gezondheidszorg CBO. Richtlijn Diagnostiek en behandeling van
	obesitas bij volwassenen en kinderen. Alphen aan den Rijn: Van Zuiden Communications BV; 2008.
9	Kemper HC, Post GB, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W. Lifestyle and obesity in adolescence and young
	adulthood: results from the Amsterdam Growth And Health Longitudinal Study (AGAHLS). Int J

Obes Relat Metab Disord 1999; 23 Suppl 3: S34-S40.

Literature

- 10 Whitlock EP, Williams SB, Gold R, Smith PR, Shipman SA. Screening and interventions for childhood overweight: a summary of evidence for the US Preventive Services Task Force. Pediatrics 2005; 116(1): e125-e144.
- 11 Strauss RS. Childhood obesity and self-esteem. Pediatrics 2000; 105(1): e15.
- Visscher TL, Schoemaker C. Lichaamsgewicht. De determinant, gezondheidsgevolgen en oorzaken.
  Wat zijn de mogelijke gezondheidsgevolgen van overgewicht en ondergewicht? http://www.rivm.nl/ vtv/object\_document/o1252n18950.html. consulted: 26-3-2009.
- 13 Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of comorbidities related to obesity and overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2009; 9: 88.
- 14 Lenz M, Richter T, Muhlhauser I. The morbidity and mortality associated with overweight and obesity in adulthood: a systematic review. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2009; 106(40): 641-648.
- 15 Whitlock G, Lewington S, Sherliker P, Clarke R, Emberson J, Halsey J *et al.* Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet 2009; 373(9669): 1083-1096.
- Janssen I, Mark AE. Elevated body mass index and mortality risk in the elderly. Obes Rev 2007; 8(1):
  41-59.
- Kivimaki M, Lawlor DA, Singh-Manoux A, Batty GD, Ferrie JE, Shipley MJ *et al.* Common mental disorder and obesity: insight from four repeat measures over 19 years: prospective Whitehall II cohort study. BMJ 2009; 339: b3765.
- 18 TNO. Factsheet Resultaten Vijfde Landelijke Groeistudie. http://www.tno.nl/downloads/
  20100608%20Resultaten%20Vijfde%20Landelijke%20Groeistudie3.pdf. consulted: 10-6-2010.
- 19 Visscher TLS, Viet AL, van den Brink CL, Gommer AM. Lichaamsgewicht. Omvang van het probleem. Hoeveel mensen hebben overgewicht of ondergewicht? http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/ object\_document/o1254n18950.html. consulted: 26-3-2009.
- Hurk K van den, van Dommelen P, de Wilde JA, Verkerk PH, van Buuren S, HiraSing RA.
  Prevalentie van overgewicht en obesitas bij jeugdigen 4-15 jaar in de periode 2002-2004. Leiden: TNO; 2006: TNO-rapport KvL/JPB/2006.010.
- 21 Schokker DF, Visscher TL, Nooyens AC, van Baak MA, Seidell JC. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the Netherlands. Obes Rev 2007; 8(2): 101-108.
- 22 Gorber SC, Tremblay M, Moher D, Gorber B. A comparison of direct vs. self-report measures for assessing height, weight and body mass index: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2007; 8(4): 307-326.
- 23 Viet AL, van den Hof Sv, Elvers LH, Ocké M, Vossenaar M. Risicofactoren En
- GezondheidsEvaluatie Nederlandse Bevolking, een onderzoek op GGD'en (Regenboogproject). Bilthoven: RIVM; 2003: RIVM rapport nr. 260854004.
- 24 Visscher TL, Gommer AM. Lichaamsgewicht. Omvang van het probleem. Zijn er verschillen naar sociaaleconomische status en etniciteit? http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/object\_document/ o1255n18950.html. consulted: 26-3-2009.

- van Leest LATM, van Dis SJ, Verschuren WMM. Hart- en vaatziekten bij allochtonen in Nederland.
  Een cijfermatige verkenning naar leefstijl- en risicofactoren, ziekte en sterfte. Bilthoven: RIVM;
  2002: RIVM rapport nr. 261858006.
- 26 Dagevos J, Dagevos H. Minderheden meer gewicht. Over overgewicht bij Turken, Marokkanen, Surinamers en Anitilianen en het belang van integratiefactoren. Den Haag: Sociaal Cultureel Planbureau; 2008.
- 27 International Association for the Study of Obesity. International Obesity TaskForce Prevalence Data. http://www.iotf.org/database/index.asp. consulted: 25-6-2010.
- 28 Visscher TL, Kromhout D, Seidell JC. Long-term and recent time trends in the prevalence of obesity among Dutch men and women. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2002; 26(9): 1218-1224.
- 29 Visscher TL, Bemelmans W, Gommer AM. Lichaamsgewicht. Omvang van het probleem. Neemt het aantal mensen met overgewicht of ondergewicht toe of af. http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/object\_document/ o1254n18950.html. consulted: 26-3-2009.
- 30 Katan MB, Ludwig DS. Extra calories cause weight gain--but how much? JAMA 2010; 303(1): 65-66.
- 31 Keith SW, Redden DT, Katzmarzyk PT, Boggiano MM, Hanlon EC, Benca RM *et al.* Putative contributors to the secular increase in obesity: exploring the roads less traveled. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006; 30(11): 1585-1594.
- 32 Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: the development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. Prev Med 1999; 29(6 Pt 1): 563-570.
- 33 Butland B, JebbS, Kopelman P, McPherson K, Thomas S, Mardell J et al. Foresight Tackling obesities: future choices - project report 2nd edition. http://www.foresight.gov.uk/OurWork/ ActiveProjects/Obesity/KeyInfo/Index.asp. consulted: 3-12-2009.
- 34 Brug J, Oenema A, Ferreira I. Theory, Evidence and Intervention Mapping to improve behavior nutrition and physical activity interventions. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2005; 2(1): 2.
- College voor zorgverzekeringen. Van preventie verzekerd. Diemen: College voor zorgverzekeringen;
  2007: Volgnummer 27043525.
- Koperen M van, Seidell JC. Overgewichtpreventie, een lokale aanpak naar Frans voorbeeld.
  Praktische Pediatrie 2010; mei(2): 10-14.
- 37 Bovendeur I. Preventie gericht op lichaamsgewicht. Kort en bondig. http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/ object\_document/o6365n19669.html. consulted: 27-8-2009.
- 38 Voedingscentrum. De leeflijn. Ingrediënten voor de aanpak van overgewicht. http:// www.voedingscentrum.nl/resources2008/leeflijn.pdf. consulted: 10-2-2010.
- 39 Loket Gezond Leven. De I-database. http://www.loketgezondleven.nl/i-database/. consulted: 10-2-2010.
- 40 Bessems K, de Ruiter S, Buijs G. Toolkit Overgewicht: preventie van overgewicht binnen de setting school. Woerden: NIGZ; 2006.

41	Grieken A van, Ezendam N, van Hooijdonk C, Oenema A, van Lenthe F, Raat H. Eindrapportage
	deelproject CIAO fase 1. Kennis van effectieve veelbelovende interventies op (inter)nationaal niveau
	gericht op primaire preventie van overgewicht (literatuur). Rotterdam: Erasmus Medisch Centrum:
	Afdeling Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg; 2010: in pers.
42	Health Council of the Netherlands. Guidelines for a healthy diet 2006. The Hague: Health Council of
	the Netherlands, 2006: publication no. 2006/21.
43	Ernsberger P, Koletsky RJ. Biomedical rationale for a wellness approach to obesity: an alternative to
	a focus on weight loss. Journal of Social Issues 1999; 55(2): 221-260.
44	Wolf AM, Woodworth KA. Obesity prevention: recommended strategies and challenges. Am J Med
	2009; 122(4 Suppl 1): S19-S23.
45	Khan LK, Sobush K, Keener D, Goodman K, Lowry A, Kakietek J et al. Recommended community
	strategies and measurements to prevent obesity in the United States. MMWR Recomm Rep 2009;
	58(RR-7): 1-26.
46	Voedingscentrum. De Balansdag. http://www.voedingscentrum.nl/nl/eten-gezondheid/gewicht/de-
	balansdag.aspx. consulted: 19-3-2010.
47	Visscher TL, Kremers S, Kromhout D. Preventie van gewichtsstijging en richtlijnen voor
	gewichtsbeheersing. http://kic.nisb.nl/extern.htm?http://kic.nisb.nl/home/catalogus.php?ID=6132.
	consulted: 20-1-2010.
48	Loket Gezond Leven. JUMP-in. http://www.loketgezondleven.nl/i-database/bijlagen/
	Interventie6863/Certificering/Beschrijving%20JUMP-in.pdf. consulted: 10-2-2010.
49	Bulk-Bunschoten AMW, Renders CM, van Leerdam FJM, HiraSing RA. Overbruggingsplan voor
	kinderen met overgewicht; Methode voor individuele primaire en secundaire preventie in de
	jeugdgezondheidszorg. Amsterdam: Huisdrukkerij VUMC; 2005.
50	Loket Gezond Leven. Overbruggingsplan voor kinderen met overgewicht. http://
	www.loketgezondleven.nl/i-database/interventies/o/12489/. consulted: 19-3-2010.
51	Seidell JC, de Beer JJ, Kuijpers T. Guideline 'Diagnosis and treatment of obesity in adults and
	children'. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2008; 152(38): 2071-2076.
52	Contento IR. Nutrition education: linking research, theory, and practice. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2008;
	17 Suppl 1: 176-179.
53	Rothschild ML. Carrots, sticks and promises: a conceptual framework for the management of public
	health and social issue behaviors. Journal of Marketing 1999; 63: 24-37.
54	Summerbell CD, Waters E, Edmunds LD, Kelly S, Brown T, Campbell KJ. Interventions for
	preventing obesity in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005;(3): CD001871.
55	Brown T, Avenell A, Edmunds LD, Moore H, Whittaker V, Avery L et al. Systematic review of long-
	term lifestyle interventions to prevent weight gain and morbidity in adults. Obes Rev 2009; 10(6):
	627-638.
56	Brown T, Summerbell C. Systematic review of school-based interventions that focus on changing
	dietary intake and physical activity levels to prevent childhood obesity: an update to the obesity

guidance produced by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Obes Rev 2009; 10(1): 110-141.

- 57 Doak CM, Visscher TL, Renders CM, Seidell JC. The prevention of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: a review of interventions and programmes. Obes Rev 2006; 7(1): 111-136.
- 58 Kropski JA, Keckley PH, Jensen GL. School-based obesity prevention programs: an evidence-based review. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008; 16(5): 1009-1018.
- 59 Kamath CC, Vickers KS, Ehrlich A, McGovern L, Johnson J, Singhal V *et al.* Clinical review: behavioral interventions to prevent childhood obesity: a systematic review and metaanalyses of randomized trials. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 93(12): 4606-4615.
- 60 Flodmark CE, Marcus C, Britton M. Interventions to prevent obesity in children and adolescents: a systematic literature review. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006; 30(4): 579-589.
- Olstad DL, McCargar L. Prevention of overweight and obesity in children under the age of 6 years.
  Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2009; 34(4): 551-570.
- 62 Lemmens VE, Oenema A, Klepp KI, Henriksen HB, Brug J. A systematic review of the evidence
- regarding efficacy of obesity prevention interventions among adults. Obes Rev 2008; 9(5): 446-455.
  Cook-Cottone C, Casey CM, Feeley TH, Baran J. A meta-analytic review of obesity prevention in the

schools: 1997-2008. Psychology in the Schools 2009; 46(8): 695-719.

- 64 Lombard CB, Deeks AA, Teede HJ. A systematic review of interventions aimed at the prevention of weight gain in adults. Public Health Nutr 2009; 12(11): 2236-2246.
- 65 McLean N, Griffin S, Toney K, Hardeman W. Family involvement in weight control, weight maintenance and weight-loss interventions: a systematic review of randomised trials. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2003; 27(9): 987-1005.
- 66 Kremers S, Reubsaet A, Martens M, Gerards S, Jonkers R, Candel M *et al.* Systematic prevention of overweight and obesity in adults: a qualitative and quantitative literature analysis. Obes Rev 2010; 11(5): 371-379.
- 67 Sharma M. International school-based interventions for preventing obesity in children. Obes Rev 2007; 8(2): 155-167.
- 68 Katz DL, O'Connell M, Yeh MC, Nawaz H, Njike V, Anderson LM *et al.* Public health strategies for preventing and controlling overweight and obesity in school and worksite settings: a report on recommendations of the Task Force on Community Preventive Services. MMWR Recomm Rep 2005; 54(RR-10): 1-12.
- 69 Katz DL, O'Connell M, Njike VY, Yeh MC, Nawaz H. Strategies for the prevention and control of obesity in the school setting: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Obes (Lond) 2008; 32(12): 1780-1789.
- 70 Bourdeaudhuij I de, van Cauwenberghe E, Spittaels H, Oppert JM, Rostami C, Brug J *et al.* Schoolbased interventions promoting both physical activity and healthy eating in Europe: a systematic review within the HOPE project. Obes Rev 2010; in pers
- 71 Kay SJ, Fiatarone Singh MA. The influence of physical activity on abdominal fat: a systematic review of the literature. Obes Rev 2006; 7(2): 183-200.

Literature

- 72 Ohkawara K, Tanaka S, Miyachi M, Ishikawa-Takata K, Tabata I. A dose-response relation between aerobic exercise and visceral fat reduction: systematic review of clinical trials. Int J Obes (Lond) 2007; 31(12): 1786-1797.
- Heijden GJ van der, Wang ZJ, Chu ZD, Sauer PJ, Haymond MW, Rodriguez LM *et al.* A 12-Week
  Aerobic Exercise Program Reduces Hepatic Fat Accumulation and Insulin Resistance in Obese,
  Hispanic Adolescents. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009;
- Heijden GJ van der, Toffolo G, Manesso E, Sauer PJ, Sunehag AL. Aerobic exercise increases
  peripheral and hepatic insulin sensitivity in sedentary adolescents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;
  94(11): 4292-4299.
- 75 Herpertz-Dahlmann B. Adolescent eating disorders: definitions, symptomatology, epidemiology and comorbidity. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2009; 18(1): 31-47.
- Zimmerman M, Francione-Witt C, Chelminski I, Young D, Tortolani C. Problems applying the DSM-IV eating disorders diagnostic criteria in a general psychiatric outpatient practice. J Clin Psychiatry 2008; 69(3): 381-384.
- 77 Thomas JJ, Vartanian LR, Brownell KD. The relationship between eating disorder not otherwise specified (EDNOS) and officially recognized eating disorders: meta-analysis and implications for DSM. Psychol Bull 2009; 135(3): 407-433.
- Wilfley DE, Bishop ME, Wilson GT, Agras WS. Classification of eating disorders: toward DSM-V.
  Int J Eat Disord 2007; 40 Suppl: S123-S129.
- Bravender T, Bryant-Waugh R, Herzog D, Katzman D, Kreipe RD, Lask B *et al.* Classification of child and adolescent eating disturbances. Workgroup for Classification of Eating Disorders in Children and Adolescents (WCEDCA). Int J Eat Disord 2007; 40 Suppl: S117-S122.
- 80 Hay P. The epidemiology of eating disorder behaviors: an Australian community-based survey. Int J Eat Disord 1998; 23(4): 371-382.
- 81 Machado PP, Machado BC, Goncalves S, Hoek HW. The prevalence of eating disorders not otherwise specified. Int J Eat Disord 2007; 40(3): 212-217.
- 82 Chamay-Weber C, Narring F, Michaud PA. Partial eating disorders among adolescents: a review. J Adolesc Health 2005; 37(5): 417-427.
- Walsh BT. Eating disorders in DSM-V: Review of existing literature (Part 2). Int J Eat Disord 2009;
  42(8): 673.
- Walsh BT. Eating disorders in DSM-V: rof existing literature (part 1). Int J Eat Disord 2009; 42(7): 579-580.
- 85 American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5: The future of psychiatric diagnosis.Proposed draft revisions to DSM disorders and criteria. http://www.dsm5.org/Pages/Default.aspx. consulted: 3-3-2010.
- 86 Volkow ND, O'Brien CP. Issues for DSM-V: should obesity be included as a brain disorder? Am J Psychiatry 2007; 164(5): 708-710.
- 87 Marcus MD, Wildes JE. Obesity: is it a mental disorder? Int J Eat Disord 2009; 42(8): 739-753.

- 88 Jansen A, Nederkoorn C, Roefs A, Martijn C, Havermans R, Mulkens S. Waarom obesitas in de GGZ behandeld moet worden. GZ-Psychologie 2009; 2: 38-44.
- 89 Strien T van. Nederlandse vragenlijst voor eetgedrag (NVE). Handleiding. Amsterdam: Boom Test Publishers; 2005.
- 90 Klump KL, Keel PK, Culbert KM, Edler C. Ovarian hormones and binge eating: exploring associations in community samples. Psychol Med 2008; 38(12): 1749-1757.
- 91 Ricca V, Castellini G, Lo SC, Ravaldi C, Lapi F, Mannucci E *et al.* Correlations between binge eating and emotional eating in a sample of overweight subjects. Appetite 2009; 53(3): 418-421.
- 92 Braet C, Claus L, Goossens L, Moens E, van Vlierberghe L, Soetens B. Differences in eating style between overweight and normal-weight youngsters. J Health Psychol 2008; 13(6): 733-743.
- 93 Stice E. Risk and maintenance factors for eating pathology: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2002; 128(5): 825-848.
- Stice E, Presnell K, Groesz L, Shaw H. Effects of a weight maintenance diet on bulimic symptoms in adolescent girls: an experimental test of the dietary restraint theory. Health Psychol 2005; 24(4): 402-412.
- 95 Stice E, Martinez EE, Presnell K, Groesz LM. Relation of successful dietary restriction to change in bulimic symptoms: a prospective study of adolescent girls. Health Psychol 2006; 25(3): 274-281.
- 96 Dekker MR. Risicovol lijngedrag onder Nederlandse jongeren: de rol van prototypes en willingness. Enschede: Universiteit Twente; 2007.
- 97 Goldschmidt AB, Aspen VP, Sinton MM, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Wilfley DE. Disordered eating attitudes and behaviors in overweight youth. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008; 16(2): 257-264.
- 98 Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Guo J, Story M, Haines J, Eisenberg M. Obesity, disordered eating, and eating disorders in a longitudinal study of adolescents: how do dieters fare 5 years later? J Am Diet Assoc 2006; 106(4): 559-568.
- 99 Hill AJ. Does dieting make you fat? Br J Nutr 2004; 92 Suppl 1: S15-S18.
- Steinhausen HC. Outcome of eating disorders. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2009; 18(1): 225-242.
- 101 Schoemaker C, Ruiter C, van den Berg M, Cuijpers P, de Graaf R, ten Have M et al. Nationale monitor geestelijke gezondheid jaarboek 2003: ADHD, anorexia nervosa en andere psychische stoornissen. Utrecht: Trimbos-instituut; 2003.
- 102 Son G van, van Furth EF. Eetstoornissen. Omvang van het probleem. Hoe vaak komen eetstoornissen voor en hoeveel mensen sterven eraan? http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/object\_document/o3215n17540.html. consulted: 13-2-2009.
- 103 Crow SJ, Peterson CB, Swanson SA, Raymond NC, Specker S, Eckert ED *et al.* Increased mortality in bulimia nervosa and other eating disorders. Am J Psychiatry 2009; 166(12): 1342-1346.
- Hoek HW, van Harten PN, van Hoeken D, Susser E. Lack of relation between culture and anorexia nervosa--results of an incidence study on Curacao. N Engl J Med 1998; 338(17): 1231-1232.
- 105 Katzman MA, Hermans KM, van Hoeken D, Hoek HW. Not your "typical island woman": anorexia nervosa is reported only in subcultures in Curacao. Cult Med Psychiatry 2004; 28(4): 463-492.

- 106 Ball K, Kenardy J. Body weight, body image, and eating behaviours: relationships with ethnicity and acculturation in a community sample of young Australian women. Eat Behav 2002; 3(3): 205-216.
- Sussman NM, Truong N, Lim J. Who expericences "America the beautiful"? Ethnicity moderating the effect of acculturation on body image and risks for eating disorders among immigrant women.
  International Journal of Intercultural Relations 2007; 31: 29-49.
- 108 Hoek HW, van Harten PN, Hermans KM, Katzman MA, Matroos GE, Susser ES. The incidence of anorexia nervosa on Curacao. Am J Psychiatry 2005; 162(4): 748-752.
- 109 Striegel-Moore RH, Dohm FA, Kraemer HC, Taylor CB, Daniels S, Crawford PB *et al.* Eating disorders in white and black women. Am J Psychiatry 2003; 160(7): 1326-1331.
- 110 Makino M, Tsuboi K, Dennerstein L. Prevalence of eating disorders: a comparison of Western and non-Western countries. MedGenMed 2004; 6(3): 49.
- 111 Noordenbos G. Sociaal-culturele factoren. In: Vandereycken W, Noordenbos G, editors. Handboek eetstoornissen. Utrecht: De Tijdstroom; 2008: 71-84.
- 112 Son GE van, van Hoeken D, Bartelds AI, van Furth EF, Hoek HW. Time trends in the incidence of eating disorders: a primary care study in the Netherlands. Int J Eat Disord 2006; 39(7): 565-569.
- 113 Preti A, Girolamo G, Vilagut G, Alonso J, Graaf R, Bruffaerts R et al. The epidemiology of eating disorders in six European countries: results of the ESEMeD-WMH project. J Psychiatr Res 2009; 43(14): 1125-1132.
- 114 Hudson JI, Hiripi E, Pope HG, Jr., Kessler RC. The prevalence and correlates of eating disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Biol Psychiatry 2007; 61(3): 348-358.
- 115 Fairburn CG, Bohn K. Eating disorder NOS (EDNOS): an example of the troublesome "not otherwise specified" (NOS) category in DSM-IV. Behav Res Ther 2005; 43(6): 691-701.
- 116 Keski-Rahkonen A, Hoek HW, Susser ES, Linna MS, Sihvola E, Raevuori A *et al.* Epidemiology and course of anorexia nervosa in the community. Am J Psychiatry 2007; 164(8): 1259-1265.
- Keski-Rahkonen A, Hoek HW, Linna MS, Raevuori A, Sihvola E, Bulik CM *et al.* Incidence and outcomes of bulimia nervosa: a nationwide population-based study. Psychol Med 2009; 39(5): 823-831.
- 118 Raevuori A, Hoek HW, Susser E, Kaprio J, Rissanen A, Keski-Rahkonen A. Epidemiology of anorexia nervosa in men: a nationwide study of Finnish twins. PLoS One 2009; 4(2): e4402.
- Nicholls D, Bryant-Waugh R. Eating disorders of infancy and childhood: definition,
  symptomatology, epidemiology, and comorbidity. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2009; 18(1):
  17-30.
- 120 Madden S, Morris A, Zurynski YA, Kohn M, Elliot EJ. Burden of eating disorders in 5-13-year-old children in Australia. Med J Aust 2009; 190(8): 410-414.
- 121 Watkins B, Lask B. Defining eating disorders in children. In: Smolak L, Thompson K, editors. Body image, eating disorders, and obesity in youth. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association; 2009: 35-46.
- 122 Pfeiffer RJ, Lucas AR, Ilstrup DM. Effect of anorexia nervosa on linear growth. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 1986; 25(1): 7-12.

- 123 Joergensen J. The epidemiology of eating disorders in Fyn County, Denmark, 1977-1986. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1992; 85(1): 30-34.
- 124 Currin L, Schmidt U, Treasure J, Jick H. Time trends in eating disorder incidence. Br J Psychiatry 2005; 186: 132-135.
- 125 Crowther JH, Armey M, Luce KH, Dalton GR, Leahey T. The point prevalence of bulimic disorders from 1990 to 2004. Int J Eat Disord 2008; 41(6): 491-497.
- 126 Son GE van, van Furth EF, Schoemaker C. Eetstoornissen. Omvang van het probleem. Neemt het aantal mensen met eetstoornissen toe of af? http://www.rivm.nl/vtv/object\_document/ o3206n17540.html. consulted: 20-3-2009.
- 127 Donker GA. Continue Morbiditeits Registratie Peilstations Nederland 2007. Utrecht: NIVEL; 2007.
- 128 Linden MW van der, Westert GP, Bakker DH de, Schellevis GF. Tweede Nationale Studie naar ziekten en verrichtingen in de huisartspraktijk. Klachten en aandoeningen in de bevolking en in de huisartspraktijk. Utrecht/Bilthoven: NIVEL/RIVM; 2004.
- Bryant-Waugh R, Lask B. Eating disorders in children. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1995; 36(2): 191-202.
- 130 Stice E, Marti CN, Shaw H, Jaconis M. An 8-year longitudinal study of the natural history of threshold, subthreshold, and partial eating disorders from a community sample of adolescents. J Abnorm Psychol 2009; 118(3): 587-597.
- 131 Ackard DM, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Perry C. Overeating among adolescents: prevalence and associations with weight-related characteristics and psychological health. Pediatrics 2003; 111(1): 67-74.
- 132 Zwaan M de. Binge eating disorder and obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2001; 25 Suppl 1: S51-S55.
- 133 Hay PJ, Mond J, Buttner P, Darby A. Eating disorder behaviors are increasing: findings from two sequential community surveys in South Australia. PLoS One 2008; 3(2): e1541.
- 134 Lamerz A, Kuepper-Nybelen J, Bruning N, Wehle C, Trost-Brinkhues G, Brenner H *et al.* Prevalence of obesity, binge eating, and night eating in a cross-sectional field survey of 6-year-old children and their parents in a German urban population. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2005; 46(4): 385-393.
- 135 Allen KL, Byrne SM, La Puma M, McLean N, Davis EA. The onset and course of binge eating in 8to 13-year-old healthy weight, overweight and obese children. Eat Behav 2008; 9(4): 438-446.
- 136 Goossens L, Braet C, Decaluwe V. Loss of control over eating in obese youngsters. Behav Res Ther 2007; 45(1): 1-9.
- 137 Levine MD, Ringham RM, Kalarchian MA, Wisniewski L, Marcus MD. Overeating among seriously overweight children seeking treatment: results of the children's eating disorder examination. Int J Eat Disord 2006; 39(2): 135-140.
- 138 Crago M, Shisslak CM, Ruble A. Protective factors in de the development of eating disorders. In: Striegel-Moore RH, Smolak L, editors. Eating disorders. Innovative directions in research and practice. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association; 2001: 75-89.
- 139 Jansen A, Boon L. Eetstoornissen en multicausaliteit. De Psycholoog 1991;(juli/augustus): 325-330.

- 140 Wilson GT. Relation of dieting and voluntary weight loss to psychological functioning and binge eating. Ann Intern Med 1993; 119(7 Pt 2): 727-730.
- Slof-Op 't Landt MC, van Furth EF, Meulenbelt I, Slagboom PE, Bartels M, Boomsma DI *et al.* Eating disorders: from twin studies to candidate genes and beyond. Twin Res Hum Genet 2005; 8(5): 467-482.
- 142 Bulik CM, Slof-Op't Landt MC, van Furth EF, Sullivan PF. The genetics of anorexia nervosa. Annu Rev Nutr 2007; 27: 263-275.
- 143 Vaughan KK, Fouts GT. Changes in television and magazine exposure and eating disorder symptomatology. Sex Roles 2003; 49(7/8): 313-320.
- 144 Hogan MJ, Strasburger VC. Body image, eating disorders, and the media. Adolesc Med State Art Rev 2008; 19(3): 521-546.
- 145 Jordan AB, Kramer-Golinkoff EK, Strasburger VC. Does adolescent media use cause obesity and eating disorders? Adolesc Med State Art Rev 2008; 19(3): 431-449.
- 146 Brown JD, Witherspoon EM. The mass media and American adolescents' health. J Adolesc Health 2002; 31(6 Suppl): 153-170.
- 147 Harrison K, Cantor J. The relationship between media consumption and eating disorders. Journal of Communication 1997; 47(1): 40-67.
- 148 Millwood-Hargrave A, Livingstone S. Harm and offence in media content. Bristol: Intellect Books; 2006.
- 149 Media, schadelijkheid en geweld. Stand van zaken internationaal onderzoek. http:// www.kijkwijzer.nl/pagina.php?id=8&nb=159. consulted: 2-2-2010.
- 150 Abbate DG, Gramaglia C, Piero A, Fassino S. Eating disorders and the Internet: cure and curse. Eat Weight Disord 2006; 11(2): e68-e71.
- 151 Mulè A, Sideli L. Eating disorders on the web: risks and resources. Stud Health Technol Inform 2009; 144: 8-12.
- 152 Yager Z, O'Dea JA. Prevention programs for body image and eating disorders on University campuses: a review of large, controlled interventions. Health Promot Int 2008; 23(2): 173-189.
- Noordenbos G, Vandereycken W. Preventie van eetstoornissen. Een gewichtig probleem. Mechelen: Kluwer; 2005.
- Shisslak CM, Crago M. Risk and protective factors in the development of eating disorders. In: Thompson JK, Smolak L, editors. Body image, eating disorders and obesity in youth. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association; 2001: 103-125.
- 155 Stice E, Shaw HE. Role of body dissatisfaction in the onset and maintenance of eating pathology: a synthesis of research findings. J Psychosom Res 2002; 53(5): 985-993.
- 156 Stice E, Presnell K, Spangler D. Risk factors for binge eating onset in adolescent girls: a 2-year prospective investigation. Health Psychol 2002; 21(2): 131-138.
- 157 Gagnon-Girouard MP, Begin C, Provencher V, Tremblay A, Boivin S, Lemieux S. Can we apply the dual-pathway model of overeating to a population of weight-preoccupied overweight women? Int J Eat Disord 2009; 42(3): 244-252.

- Ouwens MA, van Strien T, van Leeuwe JF, van der Staak CP. The dual pathway model of overeating.
  Replication and extension with actual food consumption. Appetite 2009; 52(1): 234-237.
- 159 Strien T van, Engels RC, van Leeuwe J, Snoek HM. The Stice model of overeating: tests in clinical and non-clinical samples. Appetite 2005; 45(3): 205-213.
- 160 Spoor ST, Stice E, Bekker MH, van Strien T, Croon MA, van Heck GL. Relations between dietary restraint, depressive symptoms, and binge eating: A longitudinal study. Int J Eat Disord 2006; 39(8): 700-707.
- 161 Veen C van der, Voordouw I. Ontwikkelingen in de organisatie, omvang en inhoud van GGZ- en VZpreventie. Stand van zaken 2006. Utrecht: Trimbos Instituut; 2007.
- 162 Voordouw I. Signalement preventie eetstoornissen 2007/2008. Utrecht: Trimbos Instituut; 2008.
- 163 Warnel A van, Wassink M. Landelijk Basisprogramma Eetstoornissen. Leidraad voor regionale zorgprogrammering. Utrecht: Trimbos Instituut; 2006.
- 164 Noordenbos G. Preventie. In: Vandereycken W, Noordenbos G, editors. Handboek eetstoornissen.Utrecht: De Tijdstroom; 2008: 353-369.
- 165 Noordenbos G, Meijerink FGJ. Dragen preventieprogramma's voor eetstoornissen bij aan vroegtijdige onderkenning en hulp? Tijdschrift voor de Jeugdgezondheidszorg (JGZ) 2005; 38: 52-55.
- 166 Contento IR. Nutrition Education: Linking Theory, Research, and Practice. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett; 2007.
- 167 Newton MS, Ciliska D. Internet-based innovations for the prevention of eating disorders: a systematic review. Eat Disord 2006; 14(5): 365-384.
- 168 Holt KE, Ricciardelli LA. Weight concerns among elementary school children: a review of prevention programs. Body Image 2008; 5(3): 233-243.
- 169 Stice E, Shaw H, Marti CN. A meta-analytic review of eating disorder prevention programs: encouraging findings. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2007; 3: 207-231.
- 170 Fingeret MC, Warren CS, Cepeda-Benito A, Gleaves DH. Eating disorder prevention research: A meta-analysis. Eating disorders: The Journal of Treatment and Prevention 2006; 14: 191-213.
- Levine MP, Smolak L. Recent developments and promising directions in the prevention of negative body image and disordered eating in children and adolescents. In: Smolak L, Thompson JK, editors. Body image, eating disorders, and obesity in youth. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association; 2009: 215-239.
- 172 Bauer KW, Haines J, Neumark-Sztainer D. Obesity prevention: strategies to improve effectiveness and reduce harm. In: Smolak L, Thompson JK, editors. Body image, eating disorders, and obesity in youth. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association; 2009: 241-260.
- O'Dea JA. School-based health education strategies for the improvement of body image and prevention of eatind problems. An overview of safe and successful interventions. Health Education 2005; 105(1): 11-33.
- Swinburn B. Obesity prevention in children and adolescents. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2009; 18(1): 209-223.

- 175 Health Council of the Netherlands. Plan of campaign. Promotion of healthy behaviour by mass media education. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2006; publication no. 2006/16.
- 176 Carter FA, Bulik CM. Childhood obesity prevention programs: how do they affect eating pathology and other psychological measures? Psychosom Med 2008; 70(3): 363-371.
- Shisslak CM, Renger R, Sharpe T, Crago M, McKnight KM, Gray N *et al.* Development and evaluation of the McKnight Risk Factor Survey for assessing potential risk and protective factors for disordered eating in preadolescent and adolescent girls. Int J Eat Disord 1999; 25(2): 195-214.
- 178 Story M, Sherwood NE, Himes JH, Davis M, Jacobs DR, Jr., Cartwright Y *et al.* An after-school obesity prevention program for African-American girls: the Minnesota GEMS pilot study. Ethn Dis 2003; 13(1 Suppl 1): S54-S64.
- 179 Austin SB, Kim J, Wiecha J, Troped PJ, Feldman HA, Peterson KE. School-based overweight preventive intervention lowers incidence of disordered weight-control behaviors in early adolescent girls. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2007; 161(9): 865-869.
- 180 Austin SB, Field AE, Wiecha J, Peterson KE, Gortmaker SL. The impact of a school-based obesity prevention trial on disordered weight-control behaviors in early adolescent girls. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2005; 159(3): 225-230.
- 181 Foster GD, Sherman S, Borradaile KE, Grundy KM, Vander Veur SS, Nachmani J *et al.* A policybased school intervention to prevent overweight and obesity. Pediatrics 2008; 121(4): e794-e802.
- Sanigorski AM, Bell AC, Kremer PJ, Cuttler R, Swinburn BA. Reducing unhealthy weight gain in children through community capacity-building: results of a quasi-experimental intervention program, Be Active Eat Well. Int J Obes (Lond) 2008; 32(7): 1060-1067.
- 183 Plachta-Danielzik S, Pust S, Asbeck I, Czerwinski-Mast M, Langnase K, Fischer C *et al.* Four-year follow-up of school-based intervention on overweight children: the KOPS study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007; 15(12): 3159-3169.
- Marcus C, Nyberg G, Nordenfelt A, Karpmyr M, Kowalski J, Ekelund U. A 4-year, clusterrandomized, controlled childhood obesity prevention study: STOPP. Int J Obes (Lond) 2009; 33(4): 408-417.
- 185 Meima A, Joosten-van Zwanenburg E, Jansen W. Evaluatie van Lekker Fit! in Rotterdam. Een project voor basisscholieren ter bevordering van een gezonde leefstijl. Rotterdam: GGD Rotterdam-Rijnmond; 2008.
- 186 Schwartz MB, Novak SA, Fiore SS. The Impact of Removing Snacks of Low Nutritional Value From Middle Schools. Health Educ Behav 2009; 36(6): 999-1011.
- 187 Wammes B, Breedveld B, Kremers S, Brug J. The 'balance intervention' for promoting caloric compensatory behaviours in response to overeating: a formative evaluation. Health Educ Res 2006; 21(4): 527-537.
- 188 Verheijden MW, Stafleu A, Crone MR. Evaluatie van de Balansdag: Resultaten van een kwantitatief onderzoek. Leiden: TNO Kwaliteit van Leven; 2007: KvL/B&G 2007.070.

- 189 Urbszat D, Herman CP, Polivy J. Eat, drink, and be merry, for tomorrow we diet: effects of anticipated deprivation on food intake in restrained and unrestrained eaters. J Abnorm Psychol 2002; 111(2): 396-401.
- 190 Kronick I, Knauper B. Temptations elicit compensatory intentions. Appetite 2010; 54(2): 398-401.
- 191 Butryn ML, Wadden TA. Treatment of overweight in children and adolescents: does dieting increase the risk of eating disorders? Int J Eat Disord 2005; 37(4): 285-293.
- 192 National Taskforce on the Prevention and Treatment of Obesity. Dieting and the development of eating disorders in overweight and obese adults. Arch Intern Med 2000; 160(17): 2581-2589.
- 193 Williamson DA, Martin CK, Anton SD, York-Crowe E, Han H, Redman L *et al.* Is caloric restriction associated with development of eating-disorder symptoms? Results from the CALERIE trial. Health Psychol 2008; 27(1 Suppl): S32-S42.
- 194 Groesz LM, Stice E. An experimental test of the effects of dieting on bulimic symptoms: the impact of eating episode frequency. Behav Res Ther 2007; 45(1): 49-62.
- 195 Evans EW, Sonneville KR. BMI report cards: will they pass or fail in the fight against pediatric obesity? Curr Opin Pediatr 2009; 21(4): 431-436.
- 196 Nihiser AJ, Lee SM, Wechsler H, McKenna M, Odom E, Reinold C *et al.* BMI measurement in schools. Pediatrics 2009; 124 Suppl 1: S89-S97.
- 197 Whitlock EP, O'Connor EA, Williams SB, Beil TL, Lutz KL. Effectiveness of weight management programs in children and adults. Evidence report/Technology assessment no. 170 (Prepared by the Oregon Evidence-based Practice Center under contract no. 290-02-0024). Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2008: AHRQ Publication no. 08-E014.
- 198 Dalle Grave R, Calugi S, Petroni ML, Di DS, Marchesini G. Weight management, psychological distress and binge eating in obesity. A reappraisal of the problem. Appetite 2010; 54(2): 269-273.
- 199 Lewit EM, Hyland A, Kerrebrock N, Cummings KM. Price, public policy, and smoking in young people. Tob Control 1997; 6 Suppl 2: S17-S24.
- 200 World Health Organisation. Interventions on diet and physical activity: what works: summary report. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2009.
- 201 Blackburn GL, Wollner S, Heysmfield SB. Lifestyle interventions for the treatment of class III obesity: a primary target for nutrition medicine in the obesity epidemic. Am J Clin Nutr 2010; 91(suppl): 289S-292S.
- 202 Smolak L, Thompson JK. More questions: some concluding thoughts on body image, eating disorders and obesity in youth. In: Smolak L, Thompson JK, editors. Body image, eating disorders, and obesity in youth. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association; 2009: 327-342.
- 203 Neumark-Sztainer D. Preventing obesity and eating disorders in adolescents: what can health care providers do? J Adolesc Health 2009; 44(3): 206-213.
- 204 Berg F, Buechner J, Parham E. Guidelines for childhood obesity prevention programs: promoting healthy weight in children. J Nutr Educ Behav 2003; 35(1): 1-4.

- 205 Steiner-Adair C, Sjostrom L, Franko DL, Pai S, Tucker R, Becker AE et al. Primary prevention of risk factors for eating disorders in adolescent girls: learning from practice. Int J Eat Disord 2002; 32(4): 401-411.
- 206 Noordenbos G, Vellekoop L. Pilotstudie naar de evaluatie van een nieuw preventieprogramma voor eetstoornissen: 'Je eigen Lijf, Je eigen Lijn'. JGZ 2010; 42(2): 27-30.
- 207 Stice E, Shaw H. Eating disorder prevention programs: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2004; 130(2): 206-227.
- 208 Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Story M, Sherwood NE. Five-year longitudinal predictive factors for disordered eating in a population-based sample of overweight adolescents: implications for prevention and treatment. Int J Eat Disord 2009; 42(7): 664-672.
- 209 Fitzgibbon ML, Stolley M. Promoting health in an unhealthful environment: lifestyle challenges for children and adolescents. J Am Diet Assoc 2006; 106(4): 518-522.
- 210 Smith JP. Shared risk factors for youth obesity and disordered eating fact sheet. http://www.apa.org/ ppo/pi/shared\_risk\_factors\_youth\_obesity.pdf. consulted: 26-8-2009.
- 211 Berzins LG. Protecting the consumer through truth-in-dieting laws. Journal of Social Issues 1999; 55(2): 371-382.
- 212 Tsai AG, Wadden TA. Systematic review: an evaluation of major commercial weight loss programs in the United States. Ann Intern Med 2005; 142(1): 56-66.
- 213 Pittler MH, Ernst E. Dietary supplements for body-weight reduction: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 79(4): 529-536.
- 214 Venhuis BJ, Zwaagstra ME, van den Berg JDJ, Wagenaar HWG, van Riel AHJP, Barends DM et al. Trends in drug substances detected in illegal weight-loss medicines an dietary supplements. A 2002-2007 survey and health risk analysis. Bilthoven: RIVM; 2009: RIVM rapport 370030002.
- 215 Nicolau M. Diet and overweight perception. An explorative study among migrant groups in the Netherlands: Turkish, Moroccan and Surinamese [Proefschrift]. Amsterdam: Vrije Universiteit; 2009.
- 216 Wijk van-Jansen E, Jager L, Kroon van der-Horpestad S. Leven om te eten. Surinaamse en Antiliaanse vrouwen over eten, bewegen en overgewicht. Den Haag: LEI Wageningen UR; 2010: Rapport 2010-021.
- 217 Evidence-based richtlijnontwikkeling. Handleiding voor werkgroepleden. Kwaliteitsinstituut voor de Gezondheidszorg CBO. http://www.cbo.nl/product/richtlijnen/handleiding\_ebro/default\_view. consulted: 24-9-2009.

A	Request for advice
В	The Committee
С	Definitions of eating disorders
D	Justification of methods

# Annexes

### A Request for advice

Annex

Letter of 28 July 2008 (letter reference: VGP/VV 2864984) on behalf of the Minister of Health Welfare and Sport to the chairman of the Health Council of the Netherlands.

I hereby request that you perform an exploratory study into the question of whether increased attention for overweight and obesity is a risk factor for developing eating disorders, and provide me with a report on the subject.

Overweight and obesity among adults and children has been a growing problem since 1980, which has been given increasing attention by the media and in other outlets in recent years. The Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport has started initiatives focused on preventing overweight, including:

- Foundation of the Overweight Covenant, chaired by Paul Rosemöller (2004),
- National roll-out of the Hello World intervention by minister Hoogevorst (2006)
- Overweight as 1 of the 5 policy spearheads in the prevention memorandum: "Choosing a healthy life" (2007-2011),
- Publication of a prevention manual for overweight in local health policy (2007),
- Foundation of the Netherlands Overweight Partnership (2008),
- Various national campaigns, including the 'Balance Day' by the Nutrition Centre (since 2004).

All of these efforts and initiatives have not (yet) led to a decrease in overweight (and obesity) among the Dutch population, but have put the topic on the agenda both nationally and internationally. A

Request for advice

downside to this increased attention for the prevention of overweight is the potential focus on eating patterns disrupted to such an extent that they lead to the development of eating disorders. This includes the conditions Anorexia and Bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder. The first two are focused on compulsive control of body weight via eating habits. Binge eating disorder has a different background (see also: www.akademievooreetstoornissen.nl).

Disorders such as Prader-Willi syndrome, Cushing syndrome and hypothyroidism are not included in this definition. These disorders are (more or less clearly) due to genetic or physiological defects.

There have been signals from society for some time, including from scientists, that current attention for prevention of overweight increases the risk of developing eating disorders among teens and (young) adolescents.

Given the above, I request that you perform an exploratory study, looking specifically at the following questions:

- 1 Is there a difference in susceptibility for eating disorders between men and women?
- 2 Are we seeing an increase in the number of eating disorders in teens under the age of 15 years? See also the "Signal report on the prevention of eating disorders" published by Trimbos (enclosed).
- 3 Eating disorders with names such as Orthorexia nervosa\* and Anorexia athletica\*\* are being mentioned in popular media outlets. How do these 'popular eating disorders' relate to current prevention policy on overweight and healthy diet?
- 4 Can the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport make changes to current prevention policy for overweight and obesity in order to avoid promoting the development of eating disorders?

This exploratory study is part of the 2009 draft working programme of the Health Council of the Netherlands.

I look forward to receiving the results by early 2010 at the latest.

On behalf of the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport, the Director General for Health, ir. J.J.M. de Goeij

Ortho is Greek for pure, correct, right and orexis means appetite. Orthorexia nervosa refers to a fixation on eating healthy foods. This form of extreme and compulsive behaviour may constitute a risk for the development of an eating disorder. In orthorexia, growing numbers of food items are taken off the menu, particularly those that contain a relatively large number of calories, fat or sugars. Children and adults who grow increasingly obsessed by healthy foods run the risk of going too far and developing an eating disorder, particularly when combined with other psychological risk factors.

\*\* Extreme amounts of sports or physical activity is considered a characteristic of eating disorders, and is also a specific risk factor for developing an eating disorder. In people with normal weight, extreme exercise may lead to weight loss while they consume relatively normal amounts of food. Some individuals continue engaging in sports for longer and more fanatically in order to increase performance. Particularly for men, this may be a strategy to lose weight without having to diet. This is referred to as Anorexia athletica.

## B The committee

Annex

- Prof. I.D. de Beaufort, chairperson Professor of health ethics, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam • Prof. J. Brug Professor of epidemiology, Free University Medical Center, Amsterdam • Dr K.E. Davis Senior women's studies researcher, University of Utrecht • Dr E.F. van Furth Clinical psychologist, Ursula Eating Disorders Center, Leidschendam Prof. H.W. Hoek ٠ Head of psychiatry training, Parnassia Bavo group, The Hague and professor of psychiatry, Groningen University Medical Center • Prof. A.T.M. Jansen Professor of psychology of eating disorders, University of Maastricht Prof. F.J. Meijman ٠ Professor of medical science and public communication and the history thereof, Free University Medical Center, Amsterdam • ir. R.J. Metaal, advisor Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, the Hague
- Dr G. Noordenbos Clinical psychologist, University of Leiden

The committee

- Dr A. Oenema University lecturer on determinants of healthy behaviour, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam
- Prof. J.A. Romijn
  Professor of endocrinology, Leiden University Medical Center
- Prof. J.C. Seidell Professor of nutrition and health, Free University, Amsterdam
- Dr T. van Strien Psychologist, Radboud University Nijmegen
- Dr R.M. Weggemans, *scientific secretary* Health Council of the Netherlands, The Hague

#### The Health Council and interests

Members of Health Council Committees - which also include the members of the Advisory Council on Health Research (RGO) since 1 February 2008 - are appointed in a personal capacity because of their special expertise in the matters to be addressed. Nonetheless, it is precisely because of this expertise that they may also have interests. This in itself does not necessarily present an obstacle for membership of a Health Council Committee. Transparency regarding possible conflicts of interest is nonetheless important, both for the President and members of a Committee and for the President of the Health Council. On being invited to join a Committee, members are asked to submit a form detailing the functions they hold and any other material and immaterial interests which could be relevant for the Committee's work. It is the responsibility of the President of the Health Council to assess whether the interests indicated constitute grounds for non-appointment. An advisorship will then sometimes make it possible to exploit the expertise of the specialist involved. During the establishment meeting the declarations issued are discussed, so that all members of the Committee are aware of each other's possible interests.

Annex

С

# Definitions of eating disorders

Definitions of eating disorders according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV* (DSM-IV, American Psychiatric Association, 1994). Taken from the 2006 Multidisciplinary guideline Eating Disorders.<sup>3</sup>

#### Anorexia nervosa

Anorexia nervosa is an eating disorder characterised by a refusal to maintain a body weight at or above the normal weight for age and height. Patients with anorexia nervosa are usually extremely emaciated. Two types of anorexia nervosa are identified: the restricting type that does not purge (self-induced vomiting or laxative, diuretic or enema abuse) and does not binge eat, and the type that does binge eat and/or purge.

DSM-IV 307.1 Anorexia nervosa

A Refusal to maintain body weight at or above a minimally normal weight for age and height (e.g. weight loss leading to maintenance of body weight less than 85% of that expected; or failure to

Definitions of eating disorders

make expected weight gain during period of growth, leading to body weight of less than 85% of that expected).

- B Intense fear of gaining weight or becoming fat, even though underweight.
- C Disturbance in the way in which one's body weight or shape is experienced, undue influence of body shape on self-evaluation, or denial of the seriousness of the current low body weight.
- D In postmenarcheal females, amenorrhea, i.e. the absence of at least three consecutive menstrual cycles. (A woman having periods only while on hormone medication (e.g. oestrogen) qualifies as having amenorrhoea).

Specify the type:

- Restricting type: during the current episode of anorexia nervosa, the person has not regularly engaged in binge eating or purging behaviour (self-induced vomiting or misuse of laxatives, diuretics, or enemas).
- Binge eating/purging type: during the current episode of anorexia nervosa, the person has regularly engaged in binge eating or purging behaviour (self-induced vomiting or misuse of laxatives, diuretics, or enemas).

#### Bulimia nervosa

Bulimia nervosa is characterised by episodes of binge eating during which very large amounts of food are consumed within a short period, followed by attempts to counter the effects of binge eating on weight. Two types are also identified for bulimia nervosa: the purging and the non-purging type. The non-purging type generally does not display purging behaviour, but displays other inadequate compensatory behaviour for the episodes of binge eating, such as fasting or extreme physical activity.

DSM-IV 307.51 Bulimia nervosa

A Recurrent episodes of binge eating. An episode is characterised by both: Eating, in a discrete period of time (e.g. within any 2-hour period), an amount of food that is definitely larger than most people would eat during a similar period of time and under similar circumstances. A sense

of lack of control over eating during the episode (such as a feeling that one cannot stop eating or control what or how much one is eating).

- B Recurrent inappropriate compensatory behaviour to prevent weight gain, such as self-induced vomiting, misuse of laxatives, diuretics, enemas, or other medications, fasting, or excessive exercise.
- C The binge eating and inappropriate compensatory behaviour both occur, on average, at least twice a week for 3 months.
- D Self evaluation is unduly influenced by body shape and weight.
- E The disturbance does not occur exclusively during episodes of anorexia nervosa.

#### Specify the type:

- Purging type: during the current episode of bulimia nervosa, the person has regularly engaged in self-induced vomiting or the misuse of laxatives, diuretics, or enemas.
- Non-purging type: during the current episode of bulimia nervosa, the person has used other inappropriate compensatory behaviour but has not regularly engaged in self-induced vomiting or misused laxatives, diuretics, or enemas.

#### Binge eating disorder

Binge eating disorder may be defined as bulimia nervosa without compensatory behaviour. Binge eating disorder is a new category within the DSM-IV. This category has only been introduced as a 'tentative diagnosis', meaning criteria for further research have been proposed with the objective of deciding whether the category will be recognised as an 'official' eating disorder at a later date. While the scientific debate continues, binge eating disorder has been accepted as a condition in clinical practice. Formally, it is classified as eating disorders NOS. The guideline will refer to 'binge eating disorder' from here on.

DSM-IV Research criteria for binge eating disorder

- A Recurrent episodes of binge eating. An episode is characterised by both: Eating, in a discrete period of time (e.g. within any 2-hour period), an amount of food that is definitely larger than most people would eat during a similar period of time and under similar circumstances. A sense of lack of control over eating during the episode (such as a feeling that one cannot stop eating or control what or how much one is eating).
- B The binge-eating episodes are associated with three (or more) of the following:
  - Eating much more rapidly than normal.
  - Eating until feeling uncomfortably full.
  - Eating large amounts of food when not feeling physically hungry.
  - Eating alone because of being embarrassed by how much one is eating.

Definitions of eating disorders

- Feeling disgusted with oneself, depressed or very guilty after overeating.
- C Marked distress regarding binge eating is present.
- D The binge eating occurs, on average, at least 2 days a week for 6 months.
- E The binge eating is not associated with the regular use of inappropriate compensatory behaviours (e.g. self-induced vomiting, misuse of laxatives, fasting, excessive exercise) and does not occur exclusively during the course of anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa.

#### Eating disorder not otherwise specified (NOS)

Eating disorders NOS is a category for patients who have a number of, but not all characteristics of previously listed more specific eating disorders.

#### Orthorexia nervosa and anorexia athletica

Orthorexia nervosa and anorexia athletica are not official eating disorders. Orthorexia nervosa is extreme, compulsive consumption of healthy food.<sup>3</sup> Regarding anorexia athletica, there has been debate while drafting the DSM-5 about whether excess physical activity should be included in the definition of eating disorders.<sup>85</sup> Orthorexia nervosa and anorexia athletica describe behaviour that may signal the start of an eating disorder or may already be part of an eating disorder.<sup>3</sup>

### D Search strategy

The selection of grey literature was continuous between June 2009 and May 2010. Systematic literature searches for systematic reviews and large studies encompassed all literature in the following databases: PubMed/Medline; Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews; PsychLit; National Guideline Clear-inghouse through July 2009. In some areas, the literature was supplemented by articles published between August 2009 and May 2010.

The search strategy used to answer the central question in the request for advice was: *prevention programs and eating disorders and obesity*. Database filters were used to identify meta analyses. Additionally, other search strategies were used to answer sub-questions in the advisory report, and committee members supplied additional literature.

#### Degree of evidence and formulation of conclusions

The assessment system used aimed to determine relationships between factors. Therefore it has no or very limited suitability when it comes to evaluating data on the incidence of eating disorders, overweight and obesity. Based on the available evidence (Table 7), conclusions were formulated, accompanied by a level of evidence according to the classification system in Table 8.

A conclusion is as strong as the study with the best level of evidence. A systematic review only leads to a level 1 conclusion if it is based on at least two independent clinical trials. If the level of evidence in a systematic review is said

Search strategy

101

Annex

to be level B or C, the conclusion based on the review can never be stronger than level 2 or 3.

*Table 7* Classification of methodological quality of individual studies into relationships between exposure (e.g. prevention of overweight and obesity) and effect (e.g. the risk of eating disorders).<sup>217</sup>

Level	Type of study
A1	Good quality systematic review articles of at least two independently performed A2 level studies.
A2	Randomised, double-blind, comparative intervention study of good quality and sufficient size.
В	Comparative study that does not meet all characteristics listed under A2 (this includes cohort and patient-control studies).
С	Non-comparative study.
D	Expert opinion.

Table 8 Degree of evidence of conclusions.

Level	
1: Convincing	Based on 1 systematic review article (level A1) or at least 2 independently performed A2 level studies.
2: Probable	Based on 1 A2 level study or at least 2 independently performed level B studies.
3: Possible	Based on one level B or C study.
4: Insufficient	Based on expert opinion (level D).